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Ideagen is a UK-headquartered global technology company quoted on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange 
(Ticker: IDEA.L) and is a leading supplier of information management software solutions to highly regulated industries.

The Group has established a global business, supplying governance, risk and compliance (GRC) solutions predominantly to 
the aviation, life sciences, banking and finance, aerospace and defence, healthcare and automotive sectors. 

Ideagen has operations in the UK, the United States, Bulgaria, Malaysia, Ireland and the Middle East and has more than 
520 employees.

Ideagen is able to provide complete content lifecycle solutions that enable organisations to meet their regulatory and 
compliance standards, helping them to reduce corporate risks and deliver operational excellence.

The Group has more than 5,700 customers including eight of the top 10 UK accounting firms, more than 80% of NHS Trusts, 
the top seven global aerospace and defence companies and 35 of the top global life sciences companies.

The Group has grown both organically and through a number of strategic acquisitions with this year’s results representing 
the 11th consecutive year of growth in revenue, adjusted EBITDA* and adjusted earnings per share**.

*   Before share-based payments, costs of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs and exceptional items

** Before share-based payments, amortisation of acquisition intangibles, costs of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs and exceptional items
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David Hornsby  
Executive Chairman

Aged 53

David was appointed Executive Chairman in 2018, having 
previously served as Chief Executive Officer since 2009. As 
Chief Executive, David led Ideagen through a period of rapid 
growth and is now responsible for the company’s medium 
and long-term growth plans. His particular areas of focus 
include Group Strategy, Mergers and Acquisitions and Investor 
Relations. 

David has more than 25 years’ experience in the technology 
sector and has held a number of senior management positions 
in both UK and US-based software companies, including 
Smart Workforce Management Plc, Parametric Technology 
Corporation and Profund Systems Limited.

Emma Hayes 
Chief Financial Officer 

Aged 39

Emma joined Ideagen as Chief Financial Officer in July 2020. 
She joined Ideagen from Severn Trent PLC, where she was 
Group Finance Director – Capital Delivery & Commercial. Emma 
began her working life in audit with BDO before moving onto 
Corporate Finance at Deloitte. As a Director at Deloitte, she 
worked with a diverse range of corporate and private equity 
clients on M&A transactions. 

Emma brings a wealth of experience in financial management, 
corporate finance and accounting, as well as senior 
leadership within a listed company environment, to Ideagen. 
Her understanding of financial operations, her leadership 
experience and her ability to set financial strategy will make her 
a valuable addition to the Board of Ideagen. A graduate of the 
University of Sheffield, where she gained a first-class degree 
in English Literature, Emma is also a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Barnaby Kent  
Chief Operating Officer

Aged 43

Barnaby joined Ideagen via the acquisition of Plumtree 
Group in 2013, where he was the CEO. Plumtree specialised 
in software for the Content and Clinical markets. He has more 
than 15 years’ experience within the Technology sector, having 
also worked at Corus Group plc, now Tata Steel. Barnaby 
has a BSc (Hons) from the University of Southampton and an 
MBA from Edinburgh Business School. He joined the Board in 
January 2017.

Richard Longdon   
Non-Executive Director

Aged 64

Alan has 25 years’ experience in the information systems 
industry including working in a senior capacity in the 
development of the Ministry of Defence’s Information System 
Strategy. He has also been a senior sales manager and advisor 
to a number of major companies. He is currently managing 
director of Ultris Limited and Ultris Information Services Limited 
which are focused on the UK confidential government market. 
Alan has an MSc in Design of Information Systems from 
Cranfield Institute of Technology. He was appointed to the 
Board in June 2012. Alan is the Chair of both the Remuneration 
Committee and the Audit Committee. His time commitment to 
Ideagen is typically one to two days per month.

Ben Dorks   
Chief Executive Officer 

Aged 46

Ben was appointed Chief Executive Officer in 2018 having 
previously served as Chief Customer Officer for Ideagen. 
As CCO, Ben was responsible for the total relationship with 
Ideagen’s customers through the management of global 
sales, marketing, product and professional services. 

As CEO, Ben is responsible for the overall performance of 
the business with specific focus on operational excellence, 
customer acquisition and retention and product development. 
Ben joined Ideagen in 2013 via the acquisition of Plumtree 
Group, where he served as Sales and Marketing Director. He 
previously worked as a Sales Manager at TSF and Applied 
Group. He joined the Board of Ideagen in January 2017.

OFFICERS OFFICERS (CONTINUED)

Graeme Spenceley  
Company Secretary 

Aged 55

Graeme has been a chartered accountant for more than 25 
years. He spent 18 years with KPMG, initially specialising in audit, 
where he managed a number of public company clients, and 
later as an associate director in Transaction Services, which 
specialised in the provision of due diligence and reporting 
accountant services to corporates, private equity companies 
and banks. Graeme was a director of Ideagen for more than 
10 years and retired from the Board in July 2020.

Tony Rodriguez   
Non-Executive Director 

Aged 50

Tony is an experienced technology entrepreneur and software 
developer. After an early career in a number of blue-chip 
technology companies, he founded Avellino Technologies 
Ltd in 1997, and personally led the development of its data 
profiling software product, now known as TS Discovery, before 
its acquisition in 2004 by Harte Hanks Trillium. Subsequently 
he founded X88 Software, since acquired by Experian in 
2014, where he led, as CEO and CTO, the development of 
its data management product (now known as Experian 
Pandora), which was recognised as visionary by Gartner. 
Time commitment to Ideagen is typically one to two days per 
month.

Alan Carroll   
Non-Executive Director

Aged 68

Richard was appointed as a Director of Ideagen in November 
2019. He has enjoyed a highly successful career in the 
technology sector, having spent 33 years with AVEVA Group 
plc where he was Chief Executive Officer for 17 years. During 
his time with AVEVA, the company successfully grew from a 
£7m management-buyout to a public listing valued at £1.4bn 
when Richard retired from the Board. 

As well as AVEVA, Richard has also previously held positions of 
senior independent Non-Executive Director at Fidessa Plc and 
Alfa Financial plc. Richard has also worked successfully with 
private equity backed businesses serving as a Non-Executive 
Director at Prometheus Inc and Non-Executive Chairman at 
Process Systems Enterprise Ltd.

As part of his role at Ideagen, Richard is Chair of the 
Nomination Committee. His time commitment to Ideagen is 
typically one to two days per month.
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Adjusted EBITDA* on an 
IFRS16 basis increased by 30% 
to £18.5m (2019: £14.3m on an 

IAS 17 basis)

Adjusted EBITDA* on an IAS17 
basis increased by 22% to 

£17.5m

Adjusted diluted EPS** 
increased by 12% to 5.36 pence 

(2019: 4.80 pence)

£48.7m

-£0.1m

£18.1m

Loss before tax of £0.1m  
(2019: profit of £1.4m) after an 

exceptional £2m non-recurring 
charge for impairment of 

receivables

Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR)  
book of £48.7m at year end  

(2019: £36.4m)

Cash generated by operations 
of £18.1m on an IFRS16 basis or 
£17.0m on an IAS 17 basis (2019: 

£12.3 million)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue increased by 21% to 
£56.6m (2019: £46.7m)

SaaS revenues increased 
by 61% to £22.1m and now 

represent the largest sector of 
revenue

Recurring revenues of £43.1m  
(2019: £31.2m) representing 76% 

(2019: 67%) of total revenues

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Acquisition of Redland Business Solutions which delivered high quality recurring revenues growing 25% in the first six months

• Acquisition of Optima Diagnostics, which provides health and safety solutions to BAE and Sellafield, as part of a market 
consolidation strategy

• Acquisition of Workrite, a Software as a Service (SaaS) company that has developed a functionally rich, content enabled 
Health and Safety e-learning management platform

• 458 new logo customer wins including - Emirates Group, SSE, Corbus Pharmaceuticals

• Continued high levels of customer retention with support and maintenance contract renewal rate of 95% (2019: 95%)

• Ongoing product innovation and investment across all products with strong emphasis on cloud

• COVID-19: early and decisive action focused on protecting team members, supporting our customers and positioning for the 
future

* Before share-based payments, costs of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs and exceptional items 
** Before share-based payments, amortisation of acquisition intangibles, costs of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs and exceptional items

76% 61%

22%30%

21%

NOMAD & JOINT 
BROKER 

finncap 
1 Bartholomew Close 
London 
EC1A 7BL

JOINT BROKER 

Canaccord Genuity 
88 Wood Street 
London 
EC2V 7QR

SHARE REGISTRAR

SLC Registrars 
Elder House 
St Georges Business Park 
Brooklands Road 
Weybridge 
Surrey 
KT13 0TS

SOLICITORS

Howard Kennedy 
No.1 London Bridge 
London 
SE1 9BG

Peregrine Law 
10 York Road 
London 
SE1 7ND

AUDITOR

RSM UK Audit LLP 
Suite A, 7th Floor,  
City Gate East 
Tollhouse Hill 
Nottingham 
NG1 5FS

 

ADVISERS AND REGISTERED OFFICE

REGISTERED OFFICE

Ergo House 
Mere Way 
Ruddington Fields Business Park 
Ruddington 
Nottinghamshire 
NG11 6JS

£16.8m

Proposed final dividend of 0.216 
pence per share making a total 
of 0.32 pence per share, up 15% 

on the prior year (2019: 0.278 
pence)

Net bank debt (excluding lease 
liabilities) at year end of £16.8m 
(2019: £1.3 million) following the 
funding of three acquisitions 

during the period

12%

15%
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
 
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
I am pleased to report on another strong performance for the year to 30 April 2020, representing Ideagen’s 11th consecutive 
year of revenue and EBITDA growth. To achieve such a performance despite the significant obstacles resulting from COVID-19 in 
the last two months of the financial year, and to continue to build momentum into the current financial year, is an outstanding 
testament to the resilience of our business model, the strength of our products and the character of our people.

The Group met or exceeded all key financial and operational objectives for the year, including targets for revenue, profitability, 
organic growth, cash generation and customer retention. These results are underpinned by Ideagen’s world class customer base, 
strong global reach, outstanding product set and proven and effective management team. 

ACQUISITION AND ORGANIC GROWTH STRATEGY
The Group has consistently delivered shareholder value through the successful execution of a dual growth strategy. We are 
operating in a growth market and have enjoyed considerable organic growth over recent years. We will continue to source and 
execute quality acquisitions. Currently we have a pipeline of opportunities that would increase our product capability, global 
scale and recurring revenues, which the Board expect would further enhance shareholder value for the long term. Three targets, 
Redland, Workrite and Optima, were acquired in the year and have been successfully integrated into the Group. In August 2020, 
after the year end, we acquired Qualsys and this is already delivering significant value and an excellent growth engine as our 
customers and prospects continue to embrace cloud-based applications.

The Group has a clear vision for the future and the Board has a standing plan for the three years into the future. The Group 
targets both organic growth and selective acquisitions. The Group is progressing well towards its targets as previously set out 
and is now targeting £100 million in run rate revenue by 2023, with recurring revenues representing a minimum of 85% of revenue, 
EBITDA margin of 33% and operating cash collection in excess of 90% of EBITDA (as compared to targets of 75%, 30% and 90% 
respectively). 

The Board believes that approximately £80 million in revenue will be achieved from our current business through organic growth, 
with £20 million being generated through acquisitions. 

‘C LEVEL’ MANAGEMENT
Ben Dorks as Chief Executive provides strong operational leadership for the Group. Having moved from Chief Executive to 
Executive Chairman in 2018, my focus remains on M&A activities and the 3-year strategic plan.

During the year Geoff Neil was appointed as Chief Development Officer to work alongside Ian Hepworth, our Chief Technology 
Officer. Geoff has significant experience of delivering enterprise software through both on and offshore teams and has 
development responsibility for the Group’s software products. 

Post year end Emma Hayes joined the Group as Chief Financial Officer replacing Graeme Spenceley who retired from the Board 
but remains as Company Secretary. Emma joined from Severn Trent where she served as Group Finance Director - Capital 
Delivery & Commercial and previously worked in Corporate Finance for Deloitte UK LLP. Emma brings an excellent blend of 
operational and strategic finance capability and will provide effective leadership as the Group continues to grow quickly.

The Executive Team also comprises Arun Varma, Chief Marketing Officer; Paul Marshall, Chief Customer Officer; Alex Hewitt, Chief 
Legal Officer and Barnaby Kent, Chief Operating Officer.

MARKET OPPORTUNITY
The Board is confident in the long-term prospects of the Group. The Integrated Risk Management market was, according to 
Gartner, worth $6.1 billion globally in 2019 and is estimated to be growing at 13% per annum. We believe we have a compelling 
business platform that has been significantly enhanced over the past year through the Group’s recent acquisitions. Highly 
regulated organisations require the tools we provide to help them identify, assess and manage corporate risk while complying 
with international industry standards. Many of these organisations are only in the early stages of adopting an enterprise-wide 
approach. The Board believes that the Group’s cloud solutions will be a particular growth area for the Group, which will increase 
the percentage of total revenues derived from recurring contracts providing further visibility of earnings. 

DIVIDEND
In line with our progressive dividend policy and reflecting our continued confidence in the prospects for the Group, the Board is 
pleased to propose a final dividend of 0.216 pence per share, making a total dividend of 0.32 pence for the year (FY2019: 0.278 
pence), an increase of 15%. Subject to approval at the forthcoming AGM, the final dividend will be payable on 25 November 2020 
to shareholders on the register on 6 November 2020. The corresponding ex-dividend date is 5 November 2020. 

The success of Ideagen is the result of the excellence and dedication of our employees and on behalf of the Board, I would like 
to thank all of them for their continued hard work especially during these difficult times. The new financial year has started well, 
and I look forward to continuing our track record of growth and delivering on our strategic objectives.

David Hornsby 
Executive Chairman

 

STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

BUSINESS REVIEW
I am delighted to report that despite the impact of COVID-19, the Group has continued to perform well and has delivered yet 
another year of quality earnings growth, characterised by strong cash and EBITDA generation as well as a positive set of key 
performance indicators.

The Board considers Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR) as its primary growth metric and the key driver of long-term value for the 
Group. ARR has grown strongly due to the ongoing transition from a perpetual licence model to a SaaS model and through the 
acquisition of businesses with similar high proportions of recurring revenues. 

The ARR book at 30 April 2020 was up 34% to approximately £48.7 million from £36.4 million at 30 April 2019. This comprises 
organic growth of £6.9 million, representing a 19% organic growth rate, combined with acquisition-led growth of £5.4 million from 
the three acquisitions made in the year.

The Group has now successfully transitioned to a primarily recurring revenue model and has quickly responded to the new and 
challenging business backdrop we all face.  I am encouraged by our continued success across all our key verticals and the 
growth in our priority international markets, which continue to form a significant expansion opportunity. I am pleased to see 
the importance of our software and customer relationships reflected in our customer retention levels, which continued at 95% 
throughout the period.

The Group has made excellent strategic progress in implementing its strategy of organic and acquisitive growth and we are 
excited to see that continue. We have completed three acquisitions during the period that have strengthened our product 
portfolio and provided further consolidation opportunities and capability to support our customer base. We continue to be 
extremely encouraged by our success in our priority international markets of North America and Asia, which continue to form a 
significant expansion opportunity for the Group.

Total revenue of £56.6 million (FY2019: £46.7 million), represented overall growth of 21% and adjusted EBITDA reported on an 
IFRS16 basis increased by 30% to £18.5 million (2019: £14.3 million reported on an IAS17 basis). A key financial metric for the Group 
continues to be adjusted EPS and I am pleased to report an increase in adjusted diluted EPS of 12% to 5.36 pence for the year 
(FY2019: 4.80 pence).

MARKET DRIVERS AND GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES
Ideagen operates in a global market with a number of drivers for structural growth. Businesses around the world need innovative 
solutions to help them meet increasingly stringent compliance, quality, safety, and regulatory risk requirements. 

Ideagen’s product-market strategy is focussed in three areas: 

QHSE – Quality, Health & Safety and Environmental Management – covering:

• Compliance with existing and new standards, laws and regulations

• Conformance with customer requirements, including, for example, new pressures for risk-based shop floor quality 
management in manufacturing supply chains

• Efficiency and productivity in quality, safety and environmental management; for example, being able to comply with new or 
more stringent requirements without increasing headcount in the compliance team

• Improving performance in these areas, for example by reducing the number of safety incidents in which employees are 
harmed, ensuring that important quality audits are passed successfully

ARC – Audit, Risk and Compliance Management – covering:

• Pursuit of sustainable competitive advantage through risk-based compliance and oversight

• Establishing a strong governance model to deliver resilience, compliance and strategic goals

• Productivity of internal audit teams through automation of their business processes

• Compliance with laws and regulations such as SOX, UK Companies Act, SM&CR or ASC 275

• Stewardship of brand and reputation

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW (CONTINUED)

DCC – Document Collaboration and Compliance

• Real time content collaboration across all stakeholders, partners, suppliers and customers

•  Manage FDA drug approvals, complex proposals and legal documents

• Audit ready for your compliance process with full report output

•  Access from any place or device with paragraph-based permissions and controls 

•  Automatic capture of comments, suggested changes and discussion threads for document intelligence

These key market opportunities, overlaid with vertical concentration in life sciences, healthcare, financial services and banking, 
aviation, aerospace, automotive and defence manufacturing, provide a global opportunity for growth with the accelerating shift 
towards a cloud and subscription economy.

OVERVIEW
Following another strong financial performance in 2020, Ideagen has the capability and resources to continue to make important 
investments across the Group. These investments will support further growth in line with our people, products and customers.  
Organic investment will be directed at developing and launching additional world-class products, improving value-based 
outcomes for our customers, and recruiting and developing the very best people.  We intend to support this organic investment 
by considering acquisitions that broaden our geographic reach, consolidate our market opportunity and strengthen our product 
capabilities.    

STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS
In the past year we have increased our focus on our three core business areas that underpin our strategy: people, products, 
customers. This has not only contributed to the strong performance in the period but in the rapidly changing and complex 
environment of COVID-19. This approach allows us to prioritise and align our resources and developments with customer demand 
and capitalise on market trends.

We have strengthened the capabilities of all our teams, particularly in development, marketing and sales. In the last year our new 
21,000 sq-foot development centre in Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia) was opened by the Minister for Communications and Multimedia, 
YB Gobind Singh Deo. This new centre already houses 90 technical specialists and has accelerated our cloud development 
capability. Our sales and marketing growth programs continue with additional investment throughout the year on the program 
started in 2018 in our digital marketing and sales teams. These teams provide the speed, transparency and expertise our 
customers desire through great digital interactions and the human touch. This enabled a smooth transition to home working 
through the COVID-19 lockdown period with no interruption to sales and marketing productivity. This investment will provide 
resources, technology and infrastructure to further support the Group’s growth strategy.

Our customer strategy continues to mature with the introduction of new customer success profiling, people, and systems. We 
are now implementing the Freshdesk success software which helps prevent churn, increase expansion, and strengthen customer 
relationships. Our success teams and account managers can quickly see account health, support tickets, billing history, 
communications, and user engagement, enabling us to proactively manage risks, relationships and identify upsell. We are 
pleased with the progress we have made during the period, which is demonstrated by the high industry retention rate of 95%. 

Because of COVID-19 we did not hold our annual customer satisfaction survey, which is traditionally run in March. We continue 
to measure our transactional net promoter score through our support, onboarding and customer success teams and we had a 
30% increase in our transactional satisfaction levels. We continue to engage with our new acquisitions on customer success. As is 
standard, we experience a reduction in customer satisfaction in the months following an acquisition as we change the working 
process and direct communication customers had with individuals. We monitor how that performs over the following 18 months 
to ensure that it aligns to Ideagen’s standard KPIs and that the customers are benefitting from Ideagen’s dedicated resource in 
this area.

This year we have significantly advanced the technology that underpins our customer propositions. The shift to a cloud 
operational model is a strategic priority, which will continue to evolve through our partnerships with Amazon Web Services and 
Azure. This innovation means the business is able to scale faster and can continue to support our evolving customer requirements 
in the UK and international markets.

STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020 STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW (CONTINUED)

GROWTH: SALES AND MARKETING
We have seen good performance in terms of new business and customer retention. This includes key wins across all our core 
markets and geographies within each of our solution areas. 

It is particularly pleasing to note that the ARR organic growth of 19% was driven by 458 new customer logo wins across verticals 
such as Healthcare, Life Sciences, Financial Services and US Government, with new customers including SSE, Emirates and 
Corbus Pharmaceuticals. 

Investment appetite from new customers in sectors that have been more intensely impacted by the pandemic, including the 
Aviation and Manufacturing sectors, has as expected been slower. 

We have invested into our marketing teams to generate qualified sales leads and to enhance the global recognition and 
reputation of our brand and solutions. This is achieved through content driven product and vertical marketing covering blogs, 
white papers, webinars, and a dedicated digital team. Our marketing qualified leads and pipeline have continued to grow in line 
with the business and our Sales Development team has continued to support lead generation and qualification. 

We sell our products primarily through a direct sales force which generates 97 percent (2019: 95%) of Group revenue. Our sales 
force operates globally with a focus on UK, Europe, North America, and Asia. The team is organized by both vertical market and 
product focus area and includes 61 ‘quota carrying’ sales executives and account managers supported by technical sales and 
domain experts.

We generate revenues from sales to new customers and through repeat licence and services sales to our existing customers. Key 
highlights of the year have been the success of the Ideagen Sales Excellence Academy and the continued growth of our digital 
sales team. 

In order to drive growth, we have successfully added new customers to the Group across all of our key verticals, with healthcare, 
financial services and life sciences providing particularly notable success in the year. We also continue to maintain a strong focus 
on customer success with continuous investment in customer teams, technology, and product enhancement. This has resulted in 
significant revenues from strong retention of recurring contracts and new projects from our extensive customer base. Reflecting 
the importance of the Group’s software to our customers, there has been no material impact on the Group’s existing customer 
relationships or the ARR book as a result of COVID-19.

PEOPLE
At 30 April 2020 Ideagen had 527 (2019: 442) employees based across its UK and international office network, with the majority 
located at our Centres of Excellence: Nottingham HQ (UK), Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia) and Raleigh (US). A combined total of 127 
(2018: 120) people are based internationally. In the UK 35% of all employees are now contracted homeworkers reflecting the 
change in working environment, our flexible policies and supporting systems.

The organisation is committed to significant investment within our development teams, with 32% of resource dedicated to this 
area, primarily based in Nottingham and Malaysia. Ideagen maintains its focus upon building domain expertise within core 
markets and delivering excellence across the customer base. As a result, the Group has 25% within Sales & Marketing, and 29% in 
Customer Delivery, Support and Success.

Ideagen continues to believe a broad talent pool across the company is the best way to ensure sustainable growth, as such it 
is pleased to confirm 47% of employees have been with the Group for 3 or more years, and 32% have been with the group for 
6 years or more. The Group is delighted that this traditionally male dominated sector continues to see strong growth in female 
applications, resulting in an improved ratio of 62% (2019: 64%) male to 38% (2019: 36%) female.

Ideagen is an environment which focuses delivering on diversity, in which people make their own careers, go beyond their own 
ambitions and achieve success in our unique collaborative environment. With investment in our people, facilities and communities 
we strive each and every day to make a difference and be a global leader. 

I am immensely proud to work every day with such a committed and talented team and delighted to see it reflected in positive 
feedback from customers. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS
Ideagen has a strong track record of acquiring companies. During the year we completed three acquisitions to strengthen our 
product and technology capabilities, broaden our international reach and customer base, and take us closer to our strategic 
goal of being a global leader in our chosen markets. 

The first of these was Redland Business Solutions Ltd (“Redland”) for a net cash consideration at completion of £15.8 million. 
Redland is a fast growing, profitable RegTec SaaS company supplying software to the financial services industry with solutions 
that underpin the Senior Manager & Certification Regime (SMCR) and individual employee competency. Customers include 
Nomura, Santander, Investec, Hargreaves Lansdown, and Rathbones. Current run rate revenues are approximately £4.2 million, 
while ARR is approximately £3 million.

Redland is an extremely valuable addition to the Group and is in line with our strategy of acquiring Integrated Risk Management 
businesses that have strong IP and growing recurring revenues. Financial Services is an important sector for Ideagen and the 
combination of Redland’s Insight Platform with Ideagen’s Pentana products provides a compelling proposition covering internal 
audit, risk management, certification and SMCR compliance.

Since its acquisition, Redland has performed strongly, securing twelve new logo wins, including prestigious clients such as Natixis, 
Alexander Hall, TPICAP and IG Group in the first 6 months with a combined contract value of £1.6 million.

This was followed by the acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited (“Optima”) for a net cash consideration of £1.8 million. Optima 
is a Software as a Service company that has developed OSHENS, a SaaS based Health and Safety compliance solution with 
approximately 80 customers across highly regulated markets including Airbus, Sellafield, BAE Systems and Edinburgh Airport. On 
a current run rate, Optima is generating approximately £1 million in revenues and £0.9 million ARR.

In March 2020, we acquired Workrite for a net cash consideration of £6.5m, which includes £0.8m being held in escrow subject 
to the achievement of certain business objectives during the first 12 months. Workrite is a fast-growing Software as a Service 
business that developed an e-learning platform for the Occupational Health and Safety market.

Workrite, has approximately 500 customers, including the London Stock Exchange, Panasonic, Kings College London, The Law 
Society and Credit Suisse, generating approximately £1.7m in revenues, of which £1.6m is recurring. In the first full year of ownership 
it will contribute £0.7m additional EBITDA.

The global Quality, Health, Safety and Environmental (QHSE) market is valuable yet fragmented and the acquisition of Workrite 
will further enhance our market position as we aim to further consolidate this sector.

Together, these acquisitions mean that we have businesses of genuine scale and ability to execute on the market opportunity.    

The Board remains committed to our ongoing buy and build strategy and expects to complete further acquisitions in the future. 
Our acquisition strategy focusses on recurring revenues and compelling product offerings, and we apply strict criteria to ensure 
that acquisitions represent value for shareholders. 

OPERATIONAL
Cash generated by operations during the year was strong, amounting to £18.1 million on an IFRS16 basis or representing cash 
conversion of approximately 97%. The Group ended the year with net bank debt of £16.8 million (2019: £1.3 million) and it is 
significant that this represents less than 1x our adjusted EBITDA for the year. The increase in net bank debt over the year of £15.5 
million is after taking into account net payments of £24.1 million for businesses acquired in the year and £2.0 million of deferred 
and contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions in the prior year.

The Group is committed to increasing the percentage of total revenue derived from recurring contracts through the transition 
from a traditional licence model to a SaaS subscription-based model. This transition is now complete and recurring SaaS 
revenues increased by 61% to £22.1 million (2019: £13.7 million), which at 39% (2019: 29%) now represents the largest element of 
Group revenue. ARR recognised during the year increased by 38% to £43.1 million (2019: £31.2 million), representing an increase to 
76% of total revenues from 67% the previous year. This proportion has improved consistently since 2016 when recurring revenues 
represented only 54% of total revenues.

The three acquisitions from FY2019 - InspectionXpert, Morgan Kai and Scannell Technologies - have been successfully integrated 
using our mature integration framework, which provided the delivery of true synergies and enabled an acceleration of sales 
execution. All the acquisitions broadened Ideagen’s relationships in our existing core sector and provided an additional source 
of recurring revenue and upsell opportunities to our existing customer base.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW (CONTINUED)

RISK MANAGEMENT
Effective risk management enables us to take advantage of business opportunities and deliver on our strategy while protecting 
our business. 

We have established a risk management framework and structure across the group, driven by our risk and compliance team 
through to individual risk owners in each area of the business. We continue to make progress embedding our risk management 
framework into our new and existing operations and continue to work hard to improve risk awareness across the business. Utilising 
our own market leading risk and audit products, risks and the efficacy of internal and external risk control measures in each part 
of the business are continually audited and reassessed by each risk owner and reported to the board on a monthly basis. 

Our risk profile continues to change as we adapt to market conditions and implement new and reassess existing control 
measures to mitigate our risks. We recognise that managing our principle key risks is fundamental to the company’s prosperity 
and longevity and achieve this by making risk management an integral part of our business management and planning. We 
also take a proactive and forward-looking approach to new and emerging risks such as COVID-19 and Cyber Security. While we 
recognise that we have limited control over these macro-economic risks, by early identification and assessment of these risks the 
company is provided with sufficient time to implement adequate control measures to reduce these risks to as low as possible. 

The Board regularly reviews those risks and in particular those which could have the greatest impact on the business and confirms 
that robust assessments have been performed on both the identified risks and the control measures the company has in place 
to mitigate those risks.

CURRENT TRADING & OUTLOOK
Trading since the year end has remained robust and we continue to see strong demand for our products from new potential 
customers. With acquisitions made during the previous year performing well, and with a base of over 5,700 customers generating 
growing recurring revenues and repeat business the Board has every confidence in the continued prospects for the Group.

 
Ben Dorks  
Chief Executive Officer

CUSTOMER CASE STUDIES

WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION

 
The World Health Organisation (WHO) was supposed to 
hold its 73rd World Health Assembly (WHA) in May 2020 – 
right in the middle of the global pandemic.

In normal times there would have been more than 60 items on the 
agenda for discussion, but this year there were only two, with the main 
one, unsurprisingly, being COVID-19 and the global response to it. 

The Assembly was due be attended by delegations from the 194 Member 
States of the WHO, as well as NGOs, philanthropic organisations and 
other interested parties. This year many delegations were led by 
Heads of States and the number of people attending was expected 
to be around 4,000. Normally this meeting would involve face to face 
gatherings and discussions in the Palais de Nation in Geneva, but social 
distancing measures required meant that was impossible this year.

The WHO faced a huge problem. With the world waiting for guidance 
from the organisation on how to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
this was potentially one of the most important Assemblies in its history. 
Faced with travel and meeting restrictions the like of which we have 
never experienced, the WHO had no option other than to try to hold 
the assembly virtually. Something they had never done before.

Ideagen’s leading document collaboration and governance software, 
PleaseReview, provided the WHO with the solution. 

PleaseReview allows for real-time collaboration on documents, offers 
a secure means of capturing comments and provides a full audit trail 
of responses, changes and agreements. When each word is poured 
over and debated by thousands of people and the outcome of those 
debates has such global significance, getting it right was of paramount 
importance to the WHO.

Adopting PleaseReview meant the WHO could invite member states 
to conduct a first review of policy documents, that would normally be 
conducted face to face, in a secure, online environment. 

PleaseReview allowed the member states to engage in a proper review 
process and reach agreement on the wording of vital documents 
without having to leave their desks. Ideagen’s security protocols meant 
there was a full audit trail of revisions and comments and the member 
states were confident that discussions were safe from interference by 
external forces. Social distancing was maintained, a huge amount of 
time was saved, and the WHO was extremely pleased with their first 
ever virtual World Health Assembly.
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“PleaseReview is working 

with the World Health 

Organisation in support of 

WHO’s COVID-19 outbreak 

response by providing 

services to WHO on a pro 

bono basis to allow WHO to 

conduct its first-ever digital 

World Health Assembly”  

WHO spokesperson
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CUSTOMER CASE STUDIES

 

WHYTE AND MACKAY
As a global drinks provider, Whyte and Mackay is required to meet 
multiple compliance requirements, including ISO 45001, sharper health 
and safety and BRC adherence.

But document control was becoming more and more of an issue ahead 
of each inspection. Siloed directories made document access time-
consuming and stressful. 

Norman Elliott, Compliance Manager at Whyte and Mackay, said: “The 
management of our documentation was a major driver in us looking 
at modernising our quality system. We were using a series of dated 
manual systems and processes. 

We undergo lots of audits every year, including stringent checks from 
the likes of Tesco and Sainsbury’s. We would be frantically preparing to 
ensure we had the correct documentation to prove we were meeting 
whatever standard we were being assessed against. 

It was becoming more and more apparent that we required a modern 
software system.” 

Ideagen’s Q-Pulse software was rolled out across the Grangemouth 
plant, replacing a series of paper-based processes and helping Whyte 
& Mackay improve all aspects of its operations. 

Norman said “Our staff are taking more ownership of overall safety 
around the plant. By tackling safety in this proactive way, and because 
everything is recorded in the Q-Pulse system, we can show inspectors 
exactly how we have tried to prevent accidents.”

Norman added “Q-Pulse encourages ownership of the quality system 
and makes it easier to comply with our standards. Now, when we’re 
audited, it’s a case of quickly and easily finding the information the 
auditor requires and presenting it. The auditor can see what we’ve 
done and why we’ve done it. Previously, we would have been under 
pressure preparing for those audits. But Q-Pulse is a one-stop shop for 
us to go and find any information that is required – whether that’s for 
our own internal staff or external auditors.” 

Whyte and Mackay then extended the system to manage health and 
safety, near-miss reporting and safety improvement. 

Norman added: “Q-Pulse has helped us improve our investigations 
into safety incidents.  To get to the root cause of an incident, we can 
record corrective and preventive actions through Q-Pulse’s incident 
management functionality, and this fits very nicely with our overall 
health and safety management. One of our major successes was 
encouraging staff to come forward with improvement suggestions 
using Q-Pulse.” 

CUSTOMER CASE STUDIES

ADMIRAL INSURANCE
Admiral launched in 1993 with one brand, zero customers and 57 
members of staff. On 23rd September 2004, Admiral floated on the 
London Stock Exchange and became Wales’ only FTSE 100 company. 
The Group now offers home, van and travel insurance as well as 
personal loans and car finance in the UK, has operations worldwide, 
and has over 6.5 million customers.  

In maintaining a global presence and portfolio of financial products, 
as well as protecting their market-leading position, Admiral’s risk 
management program is crucial. In order to improve oversight of the 
global risk profile and streamline reporting capabilities, Admiral needed 
new software to demonstrate effective risk management and a strong 
risk-aware culture throughout the Group. 

Admiral chose Pentana Risk to provide them with assurance that 
they’re meeting the requirements of not only the regulators, but also 
their executive teams and boards. For Admiral, the management team 
need accurate, actionable data on their organisation’s top risks to 
make informed decisions quickly.  

Huw Thomas, Enterprise Risk Manager at Admiral, had a very clear 
vision for what the new system needed to deliver. 

“We used to struggle to create bespoke reports and needed a way 
to create tailored, drillable reports. Aggregation of risk was time-
consuming and mainly done on spreadsheets; this quickly became 
unmanageable. And finally, end-user buy in – the old system was not 
user friendly and was poorly adopted within the business.”  

Since implementing Pentana Risk, Admiral have transformed risk 
management into a centralised system for creating a single source of truth.  

“The benefits of Pentana Risk were apparent immediately. With Pentana 
Risk, we can create unique portals for stakeholders across the business 
to let them identify key risks quickly. We can compare risks globally and 
update instantly so we can get an accurate and up-to-date picture of risk.  

“We can produce reports in a matter of minutes, keeping senior 
executives informed about Admiral’s top risks. We can re-use them with 
a click of a button to produce different reports for different audiences 
and tailor it to their requirements. 

“Pentana Risk is intuitive and buy-in from the business has been 
successful. By giving each business unit the tools to control their own 
risk management, Admiral’s oversight has improved – the Enterprise 
Risk team can take a step back and look at the holistic picture of risk, 
incorporating a more strategic view.

“Its ability to be specifically tailored to Admiral made Pentana Risk really 
stand out from the crowd. We spent time with Ideagen customising the 
system to make sure it met Admiral’s needs, and that support continued 
to ensure the system was fully embedded. We get a great deal out of 
the relationship with Ideagen and feel that the direction of the product 
is extremely positive.” 
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“Q-Pulse means that 

everything we require is in 

one system - for document 

management that is 

excellent. We no longer need 

to check if the most up-to-

date documentation and 

processes are being followed. 

The system does that for us 

automatically.”   
Norman Elliott,  
Compliance Manager

“By giving each 

business unit the tools 

to control their own risk 

management, Admiral’s 

executive oversight has 

dramatically improved.”  

Huw Thomas,  
Enterprise Risk Manager
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 
Adjusted EBITDA reported on an IFRS16 basis increased by 30% to £18.5 million (2019: £14.3 million reported on an IAS17 basis). On 
a like for like IAS17 basis, adjusted EBITDA grew by 22% to £17.5 million. Adjusted EBITDA under IFRS16 is greater due to lower office 
rent charges within operating costs. 

The adjusted EBITDA margin increased to 32.7% (2019: 30.6%) largely as a result of the adoption of IFRS16. On the previous IAS17 
basis, the adjusted EBITDA margin would have increased marginally to 30.9%. Gross margin reduced slightly to 90.9% (2019: 
91.6%) due to increasing SaaS revenues which have a hosting cost element. Operating costs continue to be tightly controlled 
representing 58.2% (2019: 61.1%) of revenue. On an IAS17 basis operating costs in the year would have represented 60.1% of revenue. 
We recognise the need to continue targeting investment in our staff and the operational systems of the business to support 
continued organic growth and to provide a strong, scalable platform for the integration of future acquisitions.

The Group has significant intangible assets, primarily from the acquisitions that it has made. Amortisation of acquisition 
intangibles of £9.5 million (2019: £7.5 million) represents the majority of the total depreciation and amortisation charge of £12.9 
million (2019: £9.4 million). Amortisation of development costs amounted to £1.8 million (2019: £1.4 million). Following the adoption 
of IFRS16 on 1 May 2019, a number of Right of use assets in respect of the group’s leased offices were recognised for the first time. 
At 30 April 2020 the net book value of the Right of use assets amounted to £8.3 million. The depreciation charge on these assets 
in the year amounted to £1.0 million.

The share-based payment charge of £1.7 million (2019: £1.5 million) relates to the Group’s equity-settled share option schemes 
including the Long-Term Incentive Plans and the Share Incentive Scheme for employees. The charge included £nil (2019: £0.4 
million) of national insurance costs on the exercise of non-tax efficient options. Excluding the national insurance costs, the share-
based payment charge does not represent a cash cost to the Group.

The Group incurred costs of £0.4 million in acquiring the businesses of Redland, Optima and Workrite during the year (2019: £1.3 
million in respect of the acquisitions made in that financial year). 

During March and April 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board took several decisions to reduce the cost base of 
the Group to better align it with an uncertain economic environment. This included the restructuring of certain operational functions 
which involved making a number of redundancies. This has resulted in a restructuring cost of £0.8 million (2019: £0.5 million).

There has also been a £2.0 million non-recurring exceptional impairment of receivables this year. Due to COVID-19 related 
uncertainties, the directors have re-assessed the recoverability of certain trade receivables and those with customers operating 
in markets such as aviation and other impacted industrial sectors. It was concluded that specific balances in respect of three 
customers, which had originally been recognised in previous periods, had an increased risk of recoverability and would therefore 
not be pursued and were written off. Additional expected credit losses were also recognised for customers in markets expected 
to be impacted.

Finance costs for the year were £0.8 million (2019: £0.3 million), the increase being due to the use of our borrowing facilities to 
assist with financing business acquisitions made in the year.

As a result of the above, the Group made a loss before tax of £0.1 million (2019: profit of £1.4 million), the reduced profit at a pre-
tax level being largely due to the non-recurring £2.0 million exceptional impairment charge against receivables.

A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to (loss)/profit before taxation is given below.

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Adjusted EBITDA 18,523 14,273

Depreciation and amortisation (12,927) (9,391)

Costs of acquiring businesses (402) (1,268)

Restructuring costs (830) (479)

Share-based payment charges (1,710) (1,491)

Exceptional impairment of financial assets (receivables) (1,989) -

Net finance costs (799) (263)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (134) 1,381

FINANCIAL REVIEW
We made significant strategic and financial progress during the year across all of our key measures – notably growing ARR, 
adjusted EBITDA and in cash generation. We closed the year during a period of unprecedented uncertainty from the economic 
disruption of the COVID-19 pandemic in a strong financial position, robustly financed with globally diversified end markets and 
resilient infrastructure and processes in place.

The Group has adopted IFRS16 “Leases” with effect from 1 May 2019 using the modified retrospective approach to transition and 
has therefore not restated any prior period information in the financial statements. Accordingly, the results for the year ended 
30 April 2020 are not directly comparable with those presented in the prior year under the previously applicable accounting 
standard IAS17 “Leases”. In order to show the impact of IFRS16 and to facilitate a comparison of results with the prior year, a 
reconciliation of results for the year ended 30 April 2020 as reported on an IFRS16 basis with the former IAS17 basis has been 
presented in note 2 to the financial statements.

The Board considers Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR) as its primary growth metric and the key driver of long-term value for the 
Group. ARR has grown strongly due to the ongoing transition from a perpetual licence model to a SaaS model and through the 
acquisition of businesses with similar high proportions of recurring revenues. 

ARR recognised during the year increased by 38% to £43.1 million (2019: £31.2 million), representing an increase to 76% of total 
revenues from 67% the previous year. This proportion has improved consistently since 2016 when recurring revenues represented 
only 54% of total revenues.

The ARR book at 30 April 2020 was up 34% to approximately £48.7 million from £36.4 million at 30 April 2019. This comprises 
organic growth of £6.9 million, representing a 19% organic growth rate, combined with acquisition-led growth of £5.4 million from 
the three acquisitions made in the year. 

Revenue for the year ended 30 April 2020 (“FY19/20”) increased by 21% to £56.6 million (2019: £46.7 million).   

SaaS revenues increased by 61% to £22.1 million (2019: £13.7 million) which at 39% (2019: 29%) now represents the largest element 
of Group revenue. Support & Maintenance revenues continued to grow in value terms both  through new perpetual licence sales 
and through business acquisitions, particularly from the full year effect of the acquisition of Morgan Kai in the prior year which 
historically derived a high proportion of revenue from the perpetual licence model. Support & Maintenance revenues increased 
by 20% to £21.0 million (2019: £17.5 million) representing 37% of total revenues unchanged on the prior year due to the focus on 
SaaS growth.

Professional services revenues represented 10% (2019: 11%) of total revenues. The slight decline is due to the increasing proportion 
of SaaS sales which require less configuration work which was partly offset by the acquisition of Redland which historically had a 
higher proportion of professional services revenues.

Perpetual licence revenues decreased to £7.2 million (2019: £9.7 million) representing 13% (2019: 21%) of total revenue in line with the 
ongoing transition from perpetual licences to SaaS.

Revenue by type for the Year Ended 30 April 2020

Pro-forma organic revenue growth was 5% (2019: 8%). Pro-forma 
organic revenue growth is calculated by comparing revenue for 
the year against the previous year, as if acquired businesses had 
been in the Group for the same period in the previous year. This 
is calculated based on a comparison with pro-forma revenue for 
2019 of £54.1 million which includes revenues for InspectionXpert, 
Morgan Kai, Scannell, Redland, Optima and Workrite for the 
equivalent period that they were owned by the Group in the 
year ended 30 April 2020.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA before taking into account 
share-based payment charges, costs of acquiring businesses, 
restructuring costs and exceptional items which are shown 
separately on the group statement of comprehensive income. 
The Board considers this to be the most appropriate measure of 
profitability for the Group.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 
Cash generated by operations during the year was strong, amounting to £18.1 million on an IFRS16 basis or £17.0 million on an 
IAS17 basis (2019: £12.3 million). This represents cash conversion of approximately 97% (2019: 86%) of adjusted EBITDA. The prior 
year comparative, as explained last year, was unusually impacted by  a tax payment and, aside from that payment, would have  
been similar to the current financial year at 94% of adjusted EBITDA.

The Board is highly focussed on cash generation and the statement of cash flows is the most illustrative demonstration of 
the movements in working capital, insofar that it excludes the effect of the acquisitions made in the year and the £2.0 million 
exceptional impairment of receivables charge. An increase in trade and other receivables of £2.2 million is largely matched by the 
£1.7 million increase in the deferred revenue creditor.

Movements in the three main elements of working capital on both a year-end balance sheet basis and on a cash flow statement 
basis are set out below.

Increase / 
(decrease)

£,000

Working capital movements in year-end statement of financial position:

Trade and other receivables 894

Trade and other payables (898)

Deferred revenue creditor (4,229)

(4,233)

Working capital movements in statement of cash flows:

Trade and other receivables   2,217

Trade and other payables (32)

Deferred revenue creditor (1,691)

494

Total trade receivables at 30 April 2020 were £15.3million (2019: £14.7million) of which 51% was not yet due (2019: 47%).   As explained 
above, there was an exceptional impairment charge of approximately £2 million in the year against trade receivables.

Cash collection has been robust and represents a key operational metric for the business. Days Sales Outstanding were in line 
with the previous year at 76 as at 30 April 2020 (2019: 74) based on a count-back methodology calculated by reference to 
invoiced sales as the most appropriate metric to measure. This reflects the Group’s seasonal billing profile of which 45% is H1 and 
55% is H2 compared to a relatively even split of revenue. 

The deferred income creditor of £22.8 million (2019: £18.6 million) represents the element of ARR which has been invoiced to 
customers in advance but is deferred to be recognised as revenue in the future. This does not represent a cash liability.

Free Cash Flow, defined as net cash generated by operating activities less capital expenditure, amounted to £11.1 million on an 
IFRS16 basis (ie before lease payments) or £10.1 million on the former IAS17 basis (2019: £6.3 million on an IAS17 basis). This represents 
19.6% of Revenue on an IFRS16 basis or 17.9% on an IAS17 basis (2019: 13.5% of Revenue on an IAS17 basis).  Adjusted Free Cash Flow, 
which is before payments of acquisition costs of £0.9 million in the year, was £12.0 million on an IFRS16 basis representing 21.2% of 
Revenue or £11.0 million on an IAS17 basis representing 19.5% of Revenue.

The Group ended the year with net bank debt of £16.8 million (2019: £1.3 million) representing less than 1 times adjusted EBITDA for 
the year. The increase in net bank debt over the year of £15.5 million is after taking into account net payments of £24.1 million for 
businesses acquired in the year and £2.0 million of deferred and contingent consideration in respect of acquisitions in the prior 
year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 
The adjusted Group tax charge amounted to £2.1 million (2019: £1.5 million). This has been adjusted to exclude the deferred tax 
effects associated with the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and share based payment charges and the tax effects of 
the exceptional impairment of receivables and restructuring costs. The adjusted Group tax charge represents 14.5% (2019: 12.3%) 
of adjusted profit before tax of £14.3 million (2019: £12.2 million). The increased tax rate is largely due to the increased level of 
profits earned in the United States which attract higher rates of tax than in the UK. The tax charge also includes an additional 
£0.1 million of deferred tax in the year ended 30 April 2020 resulting from the UK government’s decision not to reduce corporation 
tax rates from 19% to 17%. This has also slightly increased the adjusted tax rate. The Group’s use of R&D tax credit claims and 
tax deductions linked to the exercises of share options in particular have significantly reduced the Group’s cash liability to UK 
corporation tax on the profits for the year.

Adjusted profit before tax and the adjusted tax charge are set out below. 

£million £million

Adjusted earnings (note 9 to the financial statements) 12.2

Adjusted taxation charge:

Taxation charge in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 0.1

Add back deferred tax credits on:

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 1.3

Share-based payment charges 0.1

Exceptional impairment of financial assets (receivables) 0.4

Restructuring costs 0.2

Adjusted taxation charge 2.1

Adjusted profit before taxation 14.3

Although the introduction of IFRS16 has significantly reduced operating costs and increased depreciation charges as detailed 
above, the overall effect of IFRS16 has been to reduce profit before taxation and earnings in FY19/20 by less than £0.1 million 
compared with applying the former IAS17 basis. A comparison of the results for the year as reported on an IFRS16 basis with the 
former IAS17 basis has been presented in note 2 to the financial statements.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share on an IFRS16 basis increased by 12% to 5.36 pence (2019: 4.80 pence). Earnings per share on 
an IAS17 basis for FY19/20 would have been marginally higher at 5.37 pence.

The Group’s financial position has continued to strengthen during the year with net assets increasing to £76.9 million (2019: £73.7 
million).

The value of intangible assets increased to £113.8 million (2019: £90.7 million) mainly as a result of the three acquisitions completed 
during the year. The Group capitalised £3.9 million (2019: £2.7 million) of R&D development costs during the year which represented 
6.9% (2019: 5.7%) of total revenues. The increase is mainly due to costs capitalised in respect of strategic product development 
particularly focused on our new ICSA platform and enhancements to the core Q-Pulse and Coruson products during the year.

Following the adoption of IFRS16 “Leases” on 1 May 2019, the Group has recognised lease liabilities and corresponding right of 
use non-current assets and a lease receivable on a number of the group’s leased offices. At 30 April 2020, the Group had right 
of use assets of £8.3 million, a lease receivable of £0.5 million and total lease liabilities of £8.8 million. The application of IFRS16 as 
compared with the former IAS17, has resulted in a minimal overall reduction in net assets of less than £0.1 million at 30 April 2020.

Over the last two years, the Group’s approach to the funding of acquisitions has been more evenly balanced between using 
debt and equity together with the Group’s own cash generation. The strong cash flow and recurring revenue profile of the 
business mean that the Group has been able to secure relatively inexpensive debt funding. The acquisitions of Redland, Optima 
and Workrite during the year were funded through a combination of the Group’s own cash generation and drawdowns from the 
Group’s Revolving Credit Facility. In the prior year, the Group raised £19.4 million net of costs through a share placing as part of the 
funding for acquisitions made in that year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board measures the performance of the Group against budgets and its strategic objectives on a regular basis. The following 
key financial performance indicators are used by management as part of this ongoing assessment.

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 2020 2019 COMMENTARY

Total revenue growth 21% 29% Revenue growth is used in the internal assessment of 
how the Group is performing against strategy.

ARR book (£million) 48.7 36.4 ARR is the Group’s primary growth metric and the key 
driver of long-term value for the Group.

Recurring revenue as a percentage 
of total revenue

76% 67% One of the Group’s strategic aims is to increase the 
proportion of contracted recurring revenues in the 
medium term.

Organic revenue growth 5% 8% Organic revenue growth is calculated based on a 
comparison of current year revenue with prior year 
revenue as adjusted to include acquisitions for the 
same period as the current year.

Adjusted EBITDA (£million): EBITDA adjusted for share-based payment charges 
and exceptional items. Management consider this 
to be a more appropriate measure of the underlying 
performance of the Group.

IFRS16 basis 18.5 -

IAS17 basis 17.5 14.3

Adjusted EBITDA margin: Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue.

IFRS16 basis 32.7% -

IAS17 basis 30.9% 30.6%

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 
(pence)

5.36 4.80 The calculation of adjusted earnings per share 
is detailed in note 9 to the financial statements. 
Management consider that adjusted earnings 
per share is a better indicator of the underlying 
performance of the Group than unadjusted earnings 
per share.

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 
growth

12% 15%

Cash generated by operations as a 
percentage of adjusted EBITDA

97% 86% This is a measure of the rate of conversion of adjusted 
EBITDA into operating cash flow.

Free cash flow as a percentage of 
adjusted EBITDA

Free cash flow is defined as net cash generated by 
operating activities less capital expenditure. It is a 
measure of the cash generated by the Group which is 
available for investing in business acquisitions before 
taking into account any financing cash flows.

IFRS16 basis 19.6% -

IAS17 basis 17.9% 13.5%

Emma Hayes 
Chief Financial Officer 

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) 
Outstanding deferred consideration on business acquisitions amounted to £0.5 million at 30 April 2020 which has subsequently 
been paid post year end.

The deferred income tax liability of £9.1 million (2019: £7.3 million) is mainly in respect of the Group’s intangible assets and also does 
not represent a future cash liability for the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
Risk management is an important part of the management process throughout the Group and a policy of continuous improvement 
is adopted in assessing the adequacy of the internal system of controls. The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of risks 
including strategic, economic, operational and financial. The management of the group monitors the exposures to these risks in 
order to limit the adverse effects of these risks on the financial performance of the Group.

Strategic
The Group operates in a dynamic market and constantly seeks to ensure the solutions it offers are competitive.

Economic 
A worsening of the economic climate may lead to reduced spend on IT systems and services by customers. The world economic 
climate has been significantly adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic since March 2020 and the risk of a worsening 
economic climate in the UK is also perceived by many to have increased as a result of the uncertainties surrounding Brexit. In 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board has taken a number of measures to ensure the Group’s cost base is aligned 
with a more cautious outlook for growth in the current economic environment and the situation is being monitored very closely. 
However, the risks are reduced because the Group’s customers are widely spread both geographically and across a range of 
business sectors. The Group also has products and solutions which are business critical to customers by addressing compliance 
issues that, to a large extent, need to be covered even in an economic downturn and which can also help customers to reduce 
their cost base in difficult trading conditions.

Operational
The Group’s most significant assets are the intellectual property developed by the Group, the intangible assets acquired with 
business acquisitions and the employees of the Group. Ongoing product review and investment into product development 
together with the Group’s quality procedures seek to ensure that products are reliable, of high quality and relevant to market 
requirements. We endeavor to retain employees through ongoing initiatives to foster good staff engagement and ensure that 
remuneration packages are competitive in the market.

Financial
Management actively review the cash flow position of the Group both in the short and medium term and maintain a level 
of cash and debt finance facilities designed to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds for its operations and its strategic 
requirements. The greater part of the Group’s revenues and costs are denominated in sterling, however the Group is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk, principally through profits and cash inflows generated in US dollars by the Group’s US subsidiaries 
and through invoicing a proportion of overseas customers in foreign currencies, most notably US dollars and euros. The foreign 
exchange risk is partly addressed by maximising costs denominated in US dollars and partly through the use of forward contracts 
as appropriate to reduce this risk. The Group implements appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales are 
made. The amount of exposure to individual customers is subject to a limit which is regularly reassessed.
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SECTION 172 REPORT (CONTINUED)
Our culture invites different perspectives, new ideas and opportunities for growth.  We work hard to ensure employees feel 
welcome and are valued and recognised for their hard work.  The regular CEO town halls give all employees the opportunity to 
ask questions and understand financial performance, progress against strategy and latest acquisitions.

CUSTOMERS
Ideagen strongly values its customers and seeks to deliver a world-class product backed by industry-leading customer service 
and support. Our customer success and sales teams build lasting relationships with current and potential clients to understand 
their objectives and requirements. 

Ideagen routinely seeks customer feedback and performance appraisal inputs and takes active steps to remedy any instances 
of customer dissatisfaction.  Key customers are also routinely invited to provide product improvement inputs through our product 
management teams and annual Horizon event, and in some cases to test key features or functionality prior to general release.

We have implemented a governance framework for the oversight of the provision of the Group’s products and services to our 
clients. We take a consultative approach with clients focused on building long-term relationships and solving their investment 
challenges.

SUPPLIERS
As a global business, we work with a wide range of suppliers both in the UK and globally. We remain committed to being fair and 
transparent in our dealings with all of our suppliers.

The Group has procedures requiring due diligence of suppliers as to their internal governance, including for example, their anti-
bribery and corruption practices, data protection policies and modern slavery matters.

The Group has systems and processes in place to ensure suppliers are paid in a timely manner.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The processes to 
identify and manage the key risks of the Group are an integral part of the internal control environment. Such processes, which 
are regularly reviewed and improved as necessary, include strategic planning, review and approval of annual budgets, regular 
monitoring of performance against budget (including full investigation of significant variances), control of capital expenditure, 
ensuring that proper accounting records are maintained, and the setting of high standards for health, safety and environmental 
performance. 

The effectiveness of the internal control system and procedures is monitored regularly by management.

REGULATORS
Ideagen sets out to ensure that it is aware of, and takes steps to comply with, relevant laws, policies, and regulations at all times. 

The Board’s intention is to behave responsibly and to ensure that the management team operates the business in a responsible 
manner, acting with high professional and ethical standards and the high quality governance expected of a business like ours.  In 
doing so, we believe we will achieve our long-term business strategy and further develop our reputation in our sector.

We have a risk and control framework to ensure that the Group complies with all legal and regulatory requirements relating to 
the provision of products and services to our clients.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company encourages two-way communications with all its shareholders and responds quickly to all requests or queries 
received. Communication is primarily through the Ideagen website and the Annual General Meeting which shareholders are 
encouraged to attend and where participation is encouraged so that the Board may answer questions.  

As detailed in the corporate governance statement we also attend a number of private and institutional investor events to 
communicate our performance and long-term strategy.

We welcome our responsibilities to promote the success of the group in 
accordance with section 172 of the 2006 Companies Act.
Ideagen is a leading provider of quality, safety, audit and risk solutions.  We depend on the trust and confidence of our wide-
ranging stakeholder base to operate sustainably in the long term and high quality engagement is a key part of this relationship.  
We invest significantly in the Group’s employees, seek to foster long term relationships with our customers, support the communities 
in which we operate and strive to generate sustainable profits for shareholders.

The Directors of the Company have acted in accordance with their duties codified in law, in particular their duty to act in the way 
in which they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its members 
as a whole, having regard to the stakeholders and matters set out in section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006.

Within Ideagen the Directors fulfil their duties partly through operation of a governance framework that appropriately delegates 
day-to-day decision making to the employees of the company. The Board recognises that such delegation needs to be part of 
a robust governance structure, which covers our values, how we engage with our stakeholders, and how the Board assures itself 
that the governance structure and systems of controls continue to be robust.

Within this context, throughout this annual report and the corporate governance web page on our website, we provide examples 
of how we: 

• take into account the likely consequences of decisions in the long term;

• have regard to the interests of the Group’s employees;

• understand the need to foster the Group’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

• understand our impact on our local community and the environment;

• take into account the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and

• have regard to the need to act fairly.

This statement should be read in accordance with the remainder of this strategic report, the corporate governance statement 
and the corporate governance web pages on our website. Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires Directors to consider 
the interests of stakeholders as part of their decision-making process. The Directors continue considering the interests of its 
employees and stakeholders as part of their decision-making process, including the impact of decisions on the community, the 
environment and the reputation of the Group. The Directors assess and take into account what is most likely to promote the 
success of the Group for its members in the long term. This assessment is carried out in good faith and fairly.

The Directors are fully aware of their responsibilities to continue promoting the success of the Group in accordance with section 
172 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The Board often reviews and reflects on how Ideagen is engaging with its stakeholders. The views of stakeholders are regularly 
communicated to the Board by management and via direct engagement with stakeholders, for example via an annual 
strategy day and scheduled attendances at Board meetings.  Within this report and on the corporate governance pages of 
the Company’s website at https://investors.ideagen.com, we set out how we engage with stakeholders and the purposes and 
benefits of doing so.

EMPLOYEES 
The Board continues to strive for improvements in employee engagement as we see very clearly that employees are key to the 
success of our business.  In addition to aiming to be a responsible employer in our approach to pay and benefits, we continue to 
engage with our teams to ascertain which training and development opportunities should be made available.  We continue to 
invest in our People and Culture team which includes an increased level of investment into learning and development.  In the last 
year, for example, we created the Ideagen Learning Prospectus and the Ideagen Sales Excellence Academy, which is externally 
certified to level-4. 

We continually invest in employee wellbeing to create and encourage an inclusive culture within the organisation. Our employee 
engagement programme gives detailed, regular snapshots of engagement across the Group right down to individual manager 
level. We have also introduced a more formal approach to objective setting and performance management to support personal 
development across the organisation.  Employee goals are reviewed on an ongoing basis through our OKRs (objectives and key 
results) initiative and we hold weekly hangouts as an informal way to gather real-time feedback and develop engagement.
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SECTION 172 REPORT (CONTINUED)
All shareholders have at least twenty-one days’ notice of the Annual General Meeting. All shareholders will receive a copy of the 
Annual Report and an interim report at the half year will be available on the Company’s website. 

In addition, we deliver our Annual and Interim results via a roadshow and webinars.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY & COMMUNITIES
The Board views social responsibility, diversity & the community as an area of high importance.

Corporate Social Responsibility principles are part of our culture and decision making process. We take a consultative approach 
focused on building long-term relationships and solving business problems.

We strive to ensure that our business activities positively benefit all stakeholders by committing to conduct its business in a fair 
and responsible manner, to treat our employees fairly, supporting personal growth and development, and to have a positive 
impact in our local community.

The Board continues to commit and broaden the company’s work and associations with local charitable organisations, in 
particular involving local schools, mentoring programmes and homeless projects. 

ENVIRONMENT
Towards the end of 2019, Ideagen initiated a project to become carbon neutral. This project involves an in-depth review, analysis 
and evaluation of the carbon emissions of the Group, followed by the implementation of appropriate changes in policies, 
procedures and systems to enable the Group to strive towards its aim of obtaining and maintaining a carbon neutral status.  

The organisation’s current approach to the business/work related travel activities of our staff is likely to be the main area targeted 
by this project, along with the way in which such activities are recorded and reported. This project demonstrates the Board’s 
awareness of and regard for our impact on the environment and the Board’s intention to ensure that we reduce, as much as is 
reasonably possible, any negative impact of the Group’s operations upon the environment.

We are also implementing a number of green initiatives through the year with aim of supporting new programs which will have a 
positive effect on our environment and community.

Further information is included in the Environment report section of the Directors Report.

The Strategic Report, comprising the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review, the Customer Case Studies, the 
Financial Review and the section 172 report, were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Ben Dorks 
Director 
22 September 2020 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020
This report is for the year ended 30 April 2020. It sets out the Group’s remuneration policy and the remuneration details for the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors of the Group. Although Ideagen is not required to comply with Schedule 8 of the Large 
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, the Company is committed to achieving 
both high governance standards and a transparent and effective remuneration structure. The following information is unaudited 
except where stated. 

In discharging its duties, the Remuneration Committee considers the wider economy, the markets in which the Group operates 
and the overall performance of the Group. The remuneration of each Executive Director is determined on behalf of the Board 
by the Remuneration Committee in accordance with the relevant provisions of the QCA guidance. The policy aims to reward 
and incentivise the Executive Management Team in pursuit of the Company’s strategic aims and to align these with long-term 
shareholder value. The Executive Chairman and the CEO have been consulted in the course of producing remuneration policy.

GROUP PERFORMANCE AND DECISIONS TAKEN ON REMUNERATION 
Ideagen has continued to achieve strong growth in FY19/20 despite the effects of COVID-19 towards year end, with revenue 
increasing by 21 per cent to £56.6 million and adjusted EBITDA increasing by 30 per cent to £18.5 million on an IFRS 16 basis.  
In addition, Ideagen completed the successful earnings enhancing acquisitions of Redland Business Solutions and Optima 
Diagnostics. Workrite was also acquired in March 2020 and will be earnings enhancing in FY 20/21. 

Despite the success of Ideagen’s performance this year, in light of the exceptional circumstances arising from COVID-19, the 
Board along with all employees will receive no bonus for FY19/20.  Additionally, all salaries for FY20/21 are being held at the same 
level as the previous year until 1 November 2020 when previous planned pay increases will be implemented. The principal details 
and changes are:

• Remuneration during FY20/21 will be in line with the policy laid out in the table below. The figures in brackets below reflect 
the annualised rises being put in place from 1 November 2020. For clarity and consistency going forward annualised pay 
increments will not be made on 1 May, but will be effective as of 1 November that year. Executive Director salaries for FY20/21 
will be set at; Executive Chairman - £220,000 (£220,000), CEO - £250,000 (£280,000), CFO & COO - £175,000 and £170,000 
(£180,000) respectively.  Emma Hayes joined the Company on 1 July this year and will have her pay reviewed as of 1 July 2021 
with a view to aligning future increases to the executive team timetable.

• The maximum bonus opportunity of the Executive Chairman will be £130,000, the CEO £100,000, the CFO and COO 
£30,000. These amount to between 17.1% and 59% of base salary.

• Bonuses will be paid to the Executive Chairman based on acquisitions made in the year, to the CEO on achievement of the 
adjusted EBITDA target, cash generated by operations being at least 90% of adjusted EBITDA and acquisitions (representing 
50%, 25% and 25% of bonus opportunity respectively), and the COO and CFO on achievement of the adjusted EBITDA target 
(representing 70% of bonus opportunity) and cash generated by operations being at least 90% of adjusted EBITDA (30% 
of bonus opportunity). These bonuses are awarded in recognition of highly demanding targets. Ideagen does not have a 
‘stretch’ target element recognising performance over and above forecast.  For the avoidance of doubt ‘in line’ with targets 
will be assessed at a maximum variable of 3% unless the Remuneration Committee believes exceptional circumstances 
warrant a review of this figure. 

COMPOSITION AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMITTEE 
The Committee comprises of two independent Non-Executive directors, with Alan Carroll as Chair together with Tony Rodriguez. 
Two meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during the year.

The Committee has discharged its responsibilities during FY19/20 by: 

• Conducting a market review of comparator companies;

• Evaluating independent remuneration reports for AIM companies;

• Considering executive salary increases; 

• Considering and approving bonus measures;

• Engaging in an ongoing dialogue with the Executive Chairman and CEO on all aspects of Board remuneration;

• Considering and approving the award of LTIP options to Emma Hayes on her appointment as CFO and the reduction in LTIP 
options for Graeme Spenceley on his retirement as a director but staying on as Company Secretary;

•  Considering and approving the exercise of Executive Director share options and the sales of shares by the Executive 
Directors. 
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Element Link to Remuneration 
Policy/Strategy

Key Features / 
Operation Potential value Performance metrics

Base salary To attract and retain 
high calibre executives.

Reviewed annually, 
changes effective from 
1 November. Executive 
Director’s experience, 
responsibilities and 
performance taken into 
consideration. 

Effective 1 May 2020: 
Executive Chairman 
£220,000; 
CEO £250,000; 
CFO £175,000;  
COO £170,000.

Effective 1 November 
2020:

Executive Chairman 
£220,000; 
CEO £280,000; 
CFO £175,000;  
COO £180,000.

Market comparator

Benefits To provide an attractive 
package alongside 
basic salary to attract 
and retain executives.

Benefits include but 
are not limited to a car 
allowance and private 
medical insurance, 
excluding fuel benefit 
and dental insurance.

Car allowance £6,000 
per annum paid 
monthly and medical 
insurance benefit 
(average £1000 pa per 
director).

Market comparator

Pensions Contributions 
are made to 
the Group’s 
pension 
scheme. 

Contribution 
rate set at 
5% for both 
employer and 
the individual.  

Market comparator

Performance related 
bonus

To incentivise 
achievement of 
acquisitions, Group 
profit targets and other 
near-term strategic 
objectives.

Based on performance 
against targets 
related to acquisitions, 
achievement of 
adjusted EBITDA and 
cash generated by 
operations targets set 
at beginning of the 
year.

For FY20/21 payments 
will be capped at 59% 
(£130,000) of salary for 
Exec Chair. 

CEO at 35.7% 
(£100,000)

COO and CFO at   17.1% 
(£30,000).

Executive Chairman – 
Acquisitions.   
CEO - measured 
against achievement of 
adjusted EBITDA target, 
cash generated by 
operations of at least 
90% of adjusted EBITDA 
and acquisitions. COO 
& CFO - measured 
against achievement of 
adjusted EBITDA target 
and cash generated 
by operations of at 
least 90% of adjusted 
EBITDA.

Long Term Incentive 
Plan (“LTIP”)

To align executives 
to the interests of 
shareholders and to 
incentivise long term 
financial performance.

See notes below Executive Chairman 
– nil; 
CEO – 1,200,000 
options;  
COO – 750,000 
options; 
CFO – 562,500 options

The principles 
underpinning the 2018 
LTIP are similar to the 
previous LTIP – see the 
notes below for detail

We recognise the need to foster good relations with our shareholders and encourage open dialogue.  The Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee is available for discourse with institutional investors concerning the Company’s approach to 
remuneration at any time. We trust you will find this Report to be informative and look forward to receiving your support at our 
forthcoming AGM. 

Alan M Carroll, Non-Executive Director, Chairman Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTOR REMUNERATION POLICIES
Our remuneration policy is formulated to attract and retain high calibre executives and motivate them to develop and 
implement our business strategy to optimise long-term shareholder value. It is the intention that this policy should conform to 
best practice standards and that it will continue to apply for FY20/21 and subsequent years, subject to appropriate ongoing 
review. The policy is framed around the following key principles:

• total rewards as part of a continuing process are set at levels that are sufficiently competitive to enable the recruitment and 
retention of high calibre executives; 

• total incentive-based rewards are earned through the achievement of demanding performance conditions consistent with 
shareholder interests;

• incentive plans, performance measures and targets are structured to operate soundly throughout the business cycle;

• the design of long-term incentives, whilst challenging is prudent and will not expose shareholders to unreasonable financial 
risk;

• in considering the market positioning of reward elements, account will be taken of the performance of the Group and of 
each individual Executive Director.

When formulating the scale and structure of remuneration levels, the Remuneration Committee considers market rates, drawn 
from external market data, for the level of remuneration offered to directors of comparable type and seniority in other companies 
whose activities are similar to Ideagen. In addition, we also consider the pay and employment conditions of our employees 
when determining Directors’ remuneration. It merits emphasis that whilst employees at Ideagen enjoy strong comparator rates, 
the Executive Directors’ base pay and bonuses significantly lag comparator companies. Notwithstanding the decisions taken in 
response to COVID-19, the Committee has been progressively addressing this in recent years and will continue to do so. 

Each Executive Director’s remuneration package consists of basic salary, bonus, share options, health insurance and car 
allowance benefits, prolonged disability insurance and pension contributions. An appropriate balance is maintained between 
the fixed and performance related remuneration elements. The details of individual components of the remuneration packages 
for the year ended 30 April 2020 and details of service contracts are provided later in this report.  The policy on each element of 
remuneration and how it operates, is detailed in the following table. 
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Salary or fees Benefits in kind Bonuses Pension Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

David Hornsby 220 7 - 11 238

Ben Dorks 250 7 - 12 269

Graeme Spenceley 170 6 - 9 185

Barnaby Kent 170 7 - 9 186

Alan Carroll 30 - - - 30

Jonathan Wearing 18 - - 1 19

Tony Rodriguez 25 - - - 25

Richard Longdon 32 - - - 32

915 27 - 42 984

The emoluments of each of the directors of the Company during the year ended 30 April 2019 were as follows:

Salary or fees Benefits in 
kind Bonuses

National 
insurance on 
share options

Pension Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

David Hornsby 204 1 120 - 10 335

Ben Dorks 206 1 100 125 10 442

Graeme Spenceley 156 - 30 125 8 319

Barnaby Kent 156 1 55 125 8 345

Alan Carroll 30 - - - - 30

Jonathan Wearing 30 - - - 1 31

Tony Rodriguez 25 - - - - 25

807 3 305 375 37 1,527

Notes:

1. The bonuses for David Hornsby, Graeme Spenceley, Barnaby Kent and Ben Dorks were in respect of the successful completion 
of the acquisition and integration of the businesses acquired during the year ended 30 April 2019 and on achieving certain 
business-related targets.

2. The Group paid the employer’s national insurance costs outlined above in respect of the gains arising on non-tax-efficient 
share options exercised during the year ended 30 April 2019. The associated income tax and employee national insurance 
costs were paid by the individual directors.

3. The remuneration for Alan Carroll was paid to Ultris Limited and the remuneration for Tony Rodriguez was paid to X88 Ltd as 
set out in note 29 to the accounts. 

Notes:

1. The principles underpinning the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan and the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension (the “2018 LTIPs”) 
are similar to the previous LTIP granted in 2017 insofar as the awards will be subject to the following challenging performance 
criteria: one half become eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 196 pence over 30 consecutive business 
days with the remainder becoming eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 259 pence over 30 consecutive 
business days (except for Emma Hayes - see note 2 for details).  Options issued pursuant to the 2018 LTIPs will not vest until the 
third anniversary of the grant date. Thereafter, any Ordinary Shares issued in respect of the exercise of any of these options 
cannot be sold until the fourth anniversary of the grant date except to meet the taxation costs arising on the exercise of those 
options. They are also subject to continued service throughout. All options will lapse if the eligibility criteria are not satisfied 
or the options are not exercised within 5 years of the date of grant. Details of movements in all share options granted to the 
directors of the Company are set out on pages 32 and 33.

2. Emma Hayes was awarded an option over 562,500 shares with an exercise price of 1p upon her appointment as CFO on 1 July 
2020 (the ’Grant Date’). These shares are awarded under the existing Ideagen 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension and 
are subject to the same performance criteria: the options become eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 196 
pence (for 187,500 options) over 30 consecutive business days with the remainder becoming eligible to vest on the Company’s 
share price reaching 259 pence (for 375,000 options) over 30 consecutive business days.  Emma gave up significant share 
option awards to join Ideagen on leaving her previous role as Group Finance Director, Capital Delivery and Commercial, at 
Severn Trent PLC.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
The Non-Executive Director fees for the year commencing 1 May 2020 will be unchanged and are set at:

Alan Carroll  £30,000

Tony Rodriguez  £25,000

Richard Longdon  £65,000

PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (PSP)
The company currently does not operate a PSP for employees but share option awards are made to certain key senior managers 
below the level of Executive Director. 

Ideagen also operates a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) for qualifying employees.

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP 
The Committee considers pay and conditions of employees throughout the Group when determining remuneration. The 
Committee considers the relationship between Executive Director rewards and broader changes to UK employee’s remuneration. 
The company invested in the leading employee engagement platform PEAKON some 2 years ago. The Net Promoter Score 
results from regular independent surveys embracing pay and conditions through the platform show Ideagen to be favourably 
positioned in the software sector.

SERVICE CONTRACTS 
The service contracts of the Executive Directors are all rolling contracts containing notice periods of 6 months. There are no 
special provisions for compensation in the event of loss of office.
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During the year ended 30 April 2020, 1,342 (30 April 2019: 1,201) “Free” shares were awarded to each of David Hornsby, Ben Dorks, 
Graeme Spenceley and Barnaby Kent under the Company’s Share Incentive Scheme.

As detailed earlier in this report, 562,500 options over the shares of the Company were awarded to Emma Hayes on her 
appointment as CFO on 1 July 2020.

There have been no other changes to Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company from the end of the year to the 
date of this report.

Further information on the Group’s share option schemes can be found at note 24 to the accounts.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN SHARES

The following information is unaudited. Set out below are the beneficial interests of the Directors in the share capital of the 
Company at the beginning and end of the year.

30 April 2020 30 April 2019

David Hornsby 10,224,754 8,650,066

Ben Dorks 2,351,888 2,000,533

Graeme Spenceley 2,234,608 828,253

Barnaby Kent 3,109,548 2,278,193

Alan Carroll 204,311 204,171

Tony Rodriguez - -

Richard Longdon* - -

* Richard Longdon was appointed as a director on 1 November 2019 and did not hold any beneficial interests in Ideagen plc 
shares during the year. 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The following information has been audited. Options over ordinary shares in the Company granted to the Directors which 
remained outstanding at 30 April 2020 were as follows:

Director
Notes (see 

below)
Balance at 30 

April 2019
Granted in 

the year
Exercised in the 

year
Balance at 30 

April 2020

 
Option 

exercise 
price (pence)

 
 

Dates  
exercisable

David 
Hornsby

a 1,333,333 -   1,333,333 - 9.0

b 500,000 - 500,000 - 22.38

1,833,333 - 1,833,333 -

Ben Dorks b 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - 22.38

c 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000 1.0 2021-2023

2,200,000 - 1,000,000 1,200,000

Graeme 
Spenceley

a 800,000 - 800,000 - 9.0

b 795,000 - 795,000 - 22.38

d e 750,000 - - 750,000 1.0 2022-2024

2,345,000 - 1,595,000 750,000

Barnaby 
Kent

b 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - 22.38

d 750,000 - - 750,000 1.0 2022-2024

1,750,000 - 1,000,000 750,000

Notes:

a  options were granted on 20 October 2011 under the Company’s EMI share option scheme. All of these options had been 
exercised at 30 April 2020.

b  options were granted on 30 January 2013 under the Company’s EMI share option scheme. All of these options had been 
exercised at 30 April 2020.

c  options were granted on 22 October 2018 under the Company’s 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan. None of these options were 
exercisable at 30 April 2020.

d  options were granted on 28 March 2019 under the Company’s 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension. None of these options 
were exercisable at 30 April 2020.

e  on 1 July 2020, this award was reduced by 562,500 options to 187,500 options (all on the basis of the 196p share price vesting 
condition) when Graeme Spenceley retired as a director of Ideagen plc. Graeme is still the Company Secretary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
30 APRIL 2020

INTRODUCTION

The Board understands the value and importance of good corporate governance and is committed to the ongoing development 
of practices within the Group to provide better governance. In this statement we explain our approach to governance and how 
the Board and its committees operate.

The corporate governance framework which the Group operates is proportional to the size, stage of development and complexity 
of the business. In order to meet the requirements of AIM Rule 26, we have decided to follow the Quoted Companies Alliance 
(“QCA”) guidance for smaller and mid-sized quoted companies.

The QCA Code is constructed around ten broad principles and a set of disclosures. The QCA has stated what it considers to be 
appropriate arrangements for growing companies and asks companies to provide an explanation about how they are meeting 
the principles through the prescribed disclosures. We have considered how we apply each principle to the extent that the Board 
judges these to be appropriate in the circumstances. The QCA also provides recommendations as to whether the explanations 
in respect of each principle should be provided in the annual accounts or on the Company’s website or both. We have provided 
information below in respect of those principles which the QCA recommends should be explained in the annual accounts and in 
addition we have also included information around seeking to understand shareholder needs and expectations to support the 
reporting on section 172 of the Companies Act. Further information on corporate governance can be found on the Company’s 
website at www.ideagen.com.

ESTABLISH A STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL WHICH PROMOTE LONG-TERM VALUE FOR 
SHAREHOLDERS

The purpose of the Group is to provide document and data centric Quality, Safety, Audit and Risk solutions to heavily regulated 
markets such as Aviation, Life Sciences, Banking and Finance, Aerospace and Defence, and Automotive. This is distributed 
through our Ideagen Cloud Service architecture (ICSA) and licensed software technology to deliver world class governance, risk 
and compliance outcomes for our customers on a long-term basis.  

Our business model is to deliver this through our own sales, marketing and customer delivery teams within our global network of 
offices in the UK, Europe, Middle East, Asia and the US.

Our strategy is to develop, in conjunction with our 5500+ global customers, leading proprietary software technology that acts as 
a competitive differentiator. This enables us to drive excellent return on investment and world class outcomes for our customers 
while providing high-quality long-term recurring revenue. In addition, we look to make acquisitions in complementary markets 
which deliver high value IP and strong recurring revenue growth.

This will deliver a profitable and highly-valued business with competitive advantages over other providers of similar services.

The key challenges we face include:  

• Maintaining consistently high levels of quality development and market leading roadmap – With approximately one third 
of all employees engaged in our R&D teams we invest heavily in ensuring the continued development of our products. Very 
high standards are now expected by customers when it comes to software development. We have implemented automated 
testing wherever possible, and our software is 100% unit tested throughout its lifecycle. Our product roadmaps are developed 
through a 25-strong product team that works closely with customers and industry analysts such as Gartner, Verdantix and 
Forrester. This delivers a product roadmap which maintains competitive advantage and ensures our continued high rate of 
customer retention.

• Customer Success and Loyalty – We continue to invest heavily in customer success and continually measure customer 
sentiment and health through an ongoing programme. This includes voice of the customer survey, transactional measurement 
of customer service and net promoter score as well as a full customer success platform. Additionally, we have a customer 
success team managing recurring revenue, subscriptions and attrition rates.

• Delivering continuous availability – a failure in the group’s systems could lead to an inability to deliver services to our 
customers. This is addressed by operating redundant systems across multiple availability zones using both AWS and Azure 

cloud infrastructure, and a comprehensive business continuity programme. In addition, we have a 24/7 global support 
operation in the UK and Kuala Lumpur which monitors availability and performance.

• Acquisition and Integration – We apply strict criteria to ensure that acquisitions represent value for shareholders. A key 
element is the active integration of all the acquisition’s technology, organisational and sales capability. We have a dedicated 
integration team which actively bring together the integration through our 72-point programme. This is reviewed by the senior 
management and leadership team through a regular monthly meeting and the Board on a quarterly basis to ensure this is 
independently checked and verified and that the integration and return on capital is being fully maximised.

• Recruiting and retaining suitable staff – the group’s ability to execute its strategy is dependent on the skills and abilities 
of its staff. We undertake ongoing initiatives to foster good staff engagement and ensure that remuneration packages are 
competitive in the market.

We believe we have the right strategy and service in place to deliver strong growth in sales over the medium to long term and 
we expect to continue growing our base of recurring revenues. This is achieved by increasing the percentage of total revenue 
derived from recurring contracts through the medium-term transition from a traditional licence model to a SaaS subscription-
based model. The Group has successfully completed much of this transition providing improvements to profitability or scope for 
additional investment in new services. This will help us to deliver sustainable shareholder value in the longer term.

SEEK TO UNDERSTAND AND MEET SHAREHOLDER NEEDS AND EXPECTATIONS

Responsibility for investor relations rests with the Executive Chairman, supported by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer and the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director. During the 12 months to 30th April 2020, the following activities were 
pursued to develop a good understanding of the needs and expectations of all constituents of the group’s shareholder base:

Date Description Participants Comments

June 19 Capital Markets Day DH/BD/BK/GS/AC 35 investors and 7 private investors

July 19 Preliminary results roadshow
DH/GS/BD

3 days London, 1 Day Edinburgh, 2 
days of conference calls

Aug 19         US Investor show (Boston) BD 19 Investor meetings over 2 days

Oct 19 Scandinavian Visit BD 5 Investors in 1 day

Oct 19 AGM Board Number of PIs in attendance

Nov 19 Mello Private Investor Show DH/AC/BD 40+ PI in attendance

Nov 19 Trading Statement Following the half year end

Jan 20 Interim results roadshow DH/GS/BD 3 days London, 1 day conference calls

Key: DH: David Hornsby; GS: Graeme Spenceley; BD: Ben Dorks; BK: Barney Kent; AC: Alan Carroll

The group is committed to communicating openly with its shareholders to ensure that its strategy and performance are 
clearly understood. We communicate with shareholders through the Annual Report and Accounts, full-year and half-year 
announcements, trading updates and the annual general meeting (AGM), and we encourage shareholder participation in face-
to-face meetings. A range of corporate information (including all Ideagen announcements) is also available to shareholders, 
investors and the public on our website.

Private shareholders: The AGM represents a forum for formal dialogue with private shareholders, and we encourage all 
shareholders to attend and participate. The Notice of Meeting is sent to shareholders at least 21 days before the meeting. The 
chairs of the Board and all committees, together with all other directors whenever possible, attend the AGM and are available 
to answer questions raised by shareholders. Shareholders vote on each resolution, by way of a poll. For each resolution we 
announce the number of votes received for, against and withheld. We have not previously published the voting results on our 
website however we intend to do so for the forthcoming AGM and for future meetings. The Company has also engaged with 
ShareSoc / Mello, a Private Investors forum, attending at least one meeting annually to present the Ideagen strategy and provide 
an update on performance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Institutional shareholders: The directors actively seek to build a mutual understanding of objectives with institutional 
shareholders. Our Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer make presentations to institutional 
shareholders immediately following the release of the full-year and half-year results. We communicate with institutional investors 
frequently through a combination of formal meetings, participation at investor conferences, roadshows and informal briefings 
with management. The majority of meetings with shareholders and potential investors are arranged by the group’s two brokers. 
Following meetings, the brokers provide feedback to the Board from all fund managers met providing the Board with concise 
insight into the shareholders’ views on the company strategy and performance.

EMBED EFFECTIVE RISK MANAGEMENT, CONSIDERING BOTH OPPORTUNITIES AND THREATS, 
THROUGHOUT THE ORGANISATION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Risk Governance
Ideagen has implemented strong governance risk and 
compliance procedures and effective risk management is 
integral to these. The Board receives a comprehensive annual 
risk report and reviews a monthly risk dashboard, which are 
generated using the group’s own operational risk product, 
Pentana Risk. The day-to-day management and reporting 
of risk are the responsibility of each operational business unit 
supported by the Risk & Compliance function. This approach 
ensures the consistent application of Ideagen’s risk framework, 
risk management and reporting policies across the business.

Risk management framework
Our risk management framework details how the group 
proactively manages risk in a systematic and structured way 
and ensures appropriate control measures are in place to 
mitigate risks while maximising opportunity. By facilitating the 
consideration of risk in the decision-making process across all 
business units the group also identifies new and emerging risks 
on a continuous basis.

Key elements of risk management process
The risk management process includes an assessment of risks 
to determine the likelihood of occurrence, potential impact 
and the effectiveness of any mitigation or controls that are in 
place. All risks are measured on an inherent and residual basis 
using a pre-determined scoring matrix. The potential impact of 
risks materialising is graded against several key perspectives; 
financial, strategic, reputation & customers, infrastructure & 
people.

Principal risks & uncertainties
The company manages 10 strategic ‘principle risks’ that 
represent those areas where uncertainty could arise in the 
pursuit of the group’s strategic objectives.

By adopting a top-level overview of the principle risk areas 
with a bottom-up approach to identifying sub-risks, a holistic 
framework for managing risk is achieved. Business units and 
key stakeholders identify sub-risks at an operational level 
which are fed into the principal risk areas. These sub-risks are 
managed and reviewed regularly and where appropriate are 
escalated to the Board.

TRANSFORMATON. 
INTEGRATION 
& CHANGE 
MANAGEMENT

COMPETITION & 
MACRO-ECONOMICS

DATA SECURITY & 
DATA PRIVACY

CUSTOMERS

TECHNOLOGY

SUPPLIERS

PEOPLE

ACQUISITIONSLIQUIDITY

BRAND, 
REPUTATION 
& TRUST

MAINTAINING THE BOARD AS A WELL-FUNCTIONING BALANCED TEAM LED BY THE CHAIR

The Board has a legal obligation to promote the interests of the Group, and the members of the Board are collectively responsible 
for defining the Group’s corporate governance arrangements. Ultimate responsibility for the quality of, and approach to, 
corporate governance lies with the Executive Chairman.

The Board consists of seven directors of which four are executives and three are non-executives, one of whom, Richard Longdon 
was appointed during the year. The Board has and will continue to evolve to support the strategic objectives of the Group.

In May 2018 significant changes were made to the Board structure and the roles of three members of the Board were changed. 
These changes were designed to optimise the talent and expertise within the Group and to provide a structure that ensures the 
Board’s skillset remains aligned to the Group’s ongoing growth strategy.

David Hornsby moved from the role of Chief Executive Officer to become the Group’s Executive Chairman. The Board has a 
clear strategic objective to grow the business both organically and through further acquisitions. Having led Ideagen’s significant 
growth since 2009, David now has responsibility for Ideagen’s medium and long-term growth plans and his particular areas of 
focus include Group strategy, M&A and Investor Relations. David will continue to be involved with Ideagen on a full-time basis 
but will not be involved in the day to day operational management of the Group. Since that change David has led the successful 
acquisitions of Qualsys, Workrite, Optima, Redland, InspectionXpert, Morgan Kai and Scannell.

Ben Dorks, formerly Ideagen’s Chief Customer Officer, succeeded David to become Ideagen’s Chief Executive Officer in May 
2018. In this role, Ben has built upon his previous leadership responsibilities and his focus is on the Group’s overall operational 
performance, customer acquisition and retention and product development. Under Ben’s leadership the Group has continued to 
flourish meeting all its business objectives.

In July 2020 Emma Hayes joined the Board as Chief Financial Officer replacing Graeme Spenceley who retired from the Board. 
Emma joined the Group from Severn Trent plc where she was Group Finance Director, Capital Delivery & Commercial. Previously 
Emma spent 10 years at Deloitte LLP as a Corporate Finance Director and qualified as a chartered accountant (ACA) with BDO.

Following David Hornsby’s appointment as Executive Chairman, Jonathan Wearing  stepped down from his position as Non-
Executive Chairman after 15 years in this role. Jonathan remained on the Board as a Non-Executive Director until November 2019 
at which point he retired from the Board. Jonathan was replaced by Richard Longdon who had long and extremely successful 
career within a listed computer software company serving as the CEO of Aveva Group plc for 17 years. 

The Board has been supported by an Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee for a number of years and introduced 
a Nominations Committee in November 2019. The Nominations Committee is chaired by Richard Longdon and includes David 
Hornsby and Alan Carroll as members. Richard Longdon, Alan Carroll and Tony Rodriguez are considered to be independent 
non-executive directors and Richard Longdon is considered to be the Senior non-executive Director.

During the year ended 30 April 2020, there were 10 scheduled Board meetings and other Board meetings as required to approve 
other business such as the acquisition of a business. All directors attended all 10 meetings with the exception of David Hornsby, 
Jonathan Wearing and Barnaby Kent who were each unable to attend one meeting, mainly due to illness. In addition to attending 
Board meetings, non-executive directors are required to be available at other times as required for face-to-face and telephone 
meetings with the executive team and investors.

In addition, there were two Audit Committee meetings and two Remuneration Committee meetings which were all attended by 
Alan Carroll as committee chairman and Tony Rodriguez. The Nominations Committee oversaw the appointment of Emma Hayes 
and two committee meetings were attended by Richard Longdon and Alan Carroll.

The chairman is responsible for ensuring that directors receive accurate, sufficient and timely information. The company secretary 
compiles the board and committee papers which are circulated to directors prior to meetings. The company secretary provides 
minutes of each meeting and every director is aware of the right to have any concerns minuted and to seek independent advice 
at the group’s expense where appropriate.

DIRECTOR EXPERIENCE, SKILLS AND CAPABILITIES

The Board considers that it has an appropriate blend of sector, financial and public markets experience and personal skills and 
capabilities to enable it to deliver its strategy. Six members of the Board have been involved in the technology sector for many 
years and three of the directors have at least 6 years of public markets experience. Directors are encouraged to attend trade 
events and seminars to ensure that they remain up to date with current developments.

Further information on the experience of each of the directors is provided on pages 4 and 5.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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EVALUATING BOARD PERFORMANCE

It is recognised by shareholders that the Board has performed well both in terms of the development of an effective business 
strategy and in its day to day execution. The Board has continued to evolve and a number of important changes have been 
implemented to ensure continuous improvement and performance.

In January 2016 Ben Dorks, then Chief Customer Officer and Barney Kent, Chief Operating Officer joined the Board to provide 
deeper and broader input to board decision making. In September 2017 Tony Rodriguez joined the board as an independent 
non-executive Director with a specific responsibility for technology. In November 2019 Richard Longdon joined the board as 
senior independent non-executive and in July 2020 (post year-end) Emma Hayes joined as Chief Financial Officer.

A further board evaluation process led by the Chairman took place between November 2019 and April 2020. All directors met 
with the Chairman about the effectiveness of the Board and provided a self-assessment of their own contributions, skillset and 
future development.

PROMOTING A CORPORATE CULTURE THAT IS BASED ON ETHICAL VALUES AND BEHAVIOURS

Ideagen is an organisation built on the three core pillars of People, Customers, and Products. These provide the foundation for the 
company culture and identity, which revolves around investment in our people, to build great products for both existing and new 
customers. These customers in turn provide the revenue to feed back into the cycle for continuous improvement of our People.

This simple approach is at the heart of the Group, whereby all the functions and teams believe they contribute to the success of 
Ideagen and feel empowered to contribute to the delivery of the Group’s vision.

Complimenting these three pillars are seven shared strategic drivers, which are used to ensure the actions of our employees are 
targeted towards improving the organisation in a sustainable and controlled manner and one that represents Ideagen’s core 
values and beliefs of open communication and transparency.

In support of all actions within the Group is a strong organisational structure and a comprehensive suite of documented policies 
and processes to ensure all appropriate workflows have rigorous safeguards. However, as an organisation we are conscious to 
strike the balance to create a culture of openness and collaboration, where teamwork in delivering the Group’s objectives is the 
primary driver.

The Group measures employee engagement as one of key its key performance indicators. This is looking at all areas of people 
through from learning and development, career opportunity, management and vision and overall satisfaction. We are pleased 
with the progress we continue to make and monitor feedback regularly and provide a people update to the Board on a monthly 
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

PEOPLE

PRODUCTS CUSTOMERS

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit Committee is required to meet not less than twice each year. The audit committee receives and reviews reports from 
management and from the Group’s external auditors relating to the annual accounts and to the internal control procedures in 
use throughout the Group. It is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly reported with 
particular regard to legal requirements, accounting standards and the AIM Rules for Companies. The ultimate responsibility for 
reviewing and approving the annual report and accounts and the interim reports remains with the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises the two independent non-executive directors, Alan Carroll (as committee chairman) and Tony 
Rodriguez.

During the year the Committee held meetings with the external auditors on two occasions, prior to and towards the end of the 
annual audit. The members of the Committee also have direct access to the external auditors on an ongoing basis as required.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The Remuneration Committee is required to meet not less than twice each year. It is responsible for considering and reviewing 
the terms and conditions of service (including remuneration) of executive directors and senior employees and the design and 
operation of the Company’s share option schemes and making appropriate recommendations to the Board.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two of the independent non-executive directors, Alan Carroll (as committee chairman) 
and Tony Rodriguez. 

Further details are provided in the Remuneration Committee report on pages 27 to 33.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT
The Nominations committee was formed in November 2019 to manage the assessment of the Board in terms of skills and 
experience and to manage the recruitment process of new Board members.

The committee comprises Richard Longdon as Chairman and David Hornsby and Alan Carroll as members. Nominations 
committee members work together to form the best process for nominating and recruiting candidates for Board and leadership 
roles.

All members of the Nominations committee are required to identify potential candidates for current or upcoming vacancies and 
to work diligently toward attracting and securing top talent. Their duties include identifying, recruiting, screening and interviewing 
candidates for Board and management leadership positions. The committee selects the top candidates and recommends them 
to the Board as official nominees.

The Nominations committee will meet as required to meet the needs of the business but no less than twice per year. This year 
the committee was responsible for the recruitment of Emma Hayes as Chief Financial Officer to replace Graeme Spenceley who 
retired from the Board in July 2020.

The Nominations committee utilised the services of a headhunting firm, who drew up a shortlist of 5 candidates of which 3 were 
interviewed. Emma was considered by all committee members and the Chief Executive Officer to be the most qualified and was 
selected for this important Board position.

By order of the Board

David Hornsby 
Chairman
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

The directors are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Group are the development and supply of software solutions and the provision of associated 
professional and support services.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
A review of the results for the year and the financial position of the Group is included in the Strategic Report on pages 8 to 26 and 
details are set out in the financial statements on pages 51 to 120.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2019 of 0.188 pence per ordinary share was paid to shareholders on 26 
November 2019. The total cost of this dividend was £420,345.

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2020 of 0.104 pence per ordinary share was paid to shareholders on 18 
March 2020. The total cost of this dividend was £235,408.

The directors propose a final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2020 of 0.216 pence per share payable on 25 November 
2020 to shareholders on the register on 6 November 2020. This is subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

In accordance with S414c(ii) of the Companies Act 2006, the Group has chosen to set out in the Group’s Strategic Report, 
information required by the Large and Medium Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 Sch.7 to be 
contained in the Director’s Report.

DIRECTORS
The directors who held office were as follows:

• David R K Hornsby (Executive Chairman)

• Benjamin C Dorks (Chief Executive Officer)

• Emma J Hayes (Chief Financial Officer) - Appointed 1 July 2020

• Barnaby L Kent (Chief Operating Officer)

• Alan M Carroll (Non-Executive Director)

• Tony Rodriguez (Non-Executive Director)

• Richard Longdon (Non-Executive Director)

• Graeme P Spenceley

• Jonathan P Wearing

- Retired 1 July 2020

- Retired 30 November 2019

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY
The interests of the directors in the share capital of the Company are set out in the Remuneration Committee Report on pages 
27 to 33.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE
The Group maintained insurance cover during the year for its Directors and Officers and those of subsidiary companies under a 
Directors and Officers liability insurance policy against liabilities which may be incurred by them while carrying out their duties.

EMPLOYEES
‘People’ remains one of the three core pillars within Ideagen, alongside ‘Customers’ and ‘Products’. The evolution of how Ideagen 
manages, engages, and rewards its teams has progressed well over the last 12 months. All the primary benefits such as Life 
Insurance, contributory pension, Private Medical, and the Share Incentive Plan (SIP) have continued and, where appropriate, been 
expanded. In addition, Ideagen seeks to be creative in the use of soft benefits such as Personal Financial Planning initiatives, 
mental health workshops, holiday buy/sell, and informal flexi-time, all of which are supported by the full-time in-house Employee 
Engagement Officer.

 EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
The Group has a targeted employee net promoter score (eNPS) provided through the leading employee engagement platform 
Peakon. This anonymous survey every 8 weeks allows the company to understand the pulse of each office / function / 
demographic, thereby ensuring that a broad and comprehensive plan can be established that touches all employees around 
the globe.

Recruitment in the UK continues to be a competitive market, but Ideagen invests heavily to ensure all employees benefit from 
great facilities, excellent Learning & Development and best of breed tools, whilst enjoying a framework that aims to deliver 
#bestversionofyou in a stable, fulfilling environment.

Although employee turnover is inevitable in an acquisition focused Technology company, the Board remains pleased that non-
acquisition employee turnover of 10.5% is considerably better than the wider technology market where all indicators suggest it 
is 15%+.

Ideagen is an equal opportunities employer and it is our policy to treat all employees, job applicants, customers and suppliers 
equally regardless of their age, disability, gender reassignment, marital status, pregnancy, race (including nationality, ethnic or 
national origins), religion or religious beliefs, sex or sexual orientation.

ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT
Ideagen recognises that our global operations have an environmental impact and we are committed to monitoring and reducing 
our emissions year-on-year.  We are also aware of our reporting obligations under The Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited 
Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018.  As such, this year we have upgraded our energy and carbon 
reporting to meet these new requirements and increase the transparency with which we communicate about our environmental 
impact to our stakeholders.

Performance in the year 
This year we have calculated our environmental impact across the required scope 1, 2 and 3 (selected categories) emissions 
sources for the UK only.  Our emissions on a location basis (using the UK grid emissions intensity) are 1,314 tCO2e, which is an 
average impact of 4 tCO2e per employee. We have calculated emission intensity metrics on both an employee and floor area 
basis, which we will monitor to track performance in our subsequent environmental disclosures.

Energy and carbon action
At Ideagen we are mindful of the environmental impact that our buildings and vehicle use have on the environment.  As such over 
the course of the last year we have taken steps to meet our environmental responsibilities through: 

• Carrying out energy audits – to comply with the requirements of the Energy Savings Opportunities Scheme (ESOS), through
which we have identified several energy efficiencies measures that are under review and will be implemented as practicable

• Reaccreditation of ISO14001:2015 – to continue to minimise our environmental impact and manage our resources more
efficiently. This demonstrates our continued commitment to protecting the environment

• Reduction in travel – this year we have encouraged staff not to travel by using technology wherever possible. Major
investment has been put into technology across the entire estate to help facilitate this transition

• Centralised travel booking system – to improve data capture and reporting to respond to the increasing regulatory
requirements around our environmental performance

Results for the year
The methodology used to calculate the GHG emissions is in accordance with the requirements of the following standards: 

• World Resources Institute (WRI) Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol (revised version)

• Defra’s Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting requirements (March 2019)

Emission sources are grouped into either Scope 1, 2 or 3 using the World Resources Institute (WRI) Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol 
(revised version) definitions: 

• Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the company

• Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions from the generation of purchased electricity consumed by the company

• Scope 3: All other indirect emissions. These emissions are a consequence of the activities of the company, but occur from
sources not owned or controlled by the company
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ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT (CONTINUED)
Following an operational control approach to defining our organisational boundary, our calculated GHG emissions from business 
activities for the period 1 May 2019 to 30 April 2020 are as follows: 

Emissions Source Emissions tCO2e1 

Scope 1 
Natural gas 1 

Refrigerant 6 

Scope 2 Purchased electricity 244 

Scope 3
Electricity transmission 
and distribution 

21 

Employee cars 75 

Rail 9 

Public transport 2 

Business flights 956 

Paper < 1 

Total emissions (location-based) 1,314 

Total emissions (market-based) 1,372 

Total energy usage (kWh)2 1,277,500 

Carbon intensity per employee tCO2e per FTE 4 

Carbon intensity per floor area  tCO2e per m2 0.4 

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 August 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of Qualsys Limited, a company incorporated and domiciled in England. 
The initial net cash consideration paid at completion was £14.0 million with a further £1.6 million of deferred consideration payable 
12 months after completion.

The acquisition will strengthen the Group’s position in the Electronic Quality Management Software (“EQMS”) market providing 
both a SaaS-native cloud platform and a range of SME and Global Tier 1 customers.

The acquisition was funded from the Group’s cash resources and its existing Revolving Credit Facility with National Westminster 
Bank plc. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Disclosure of the exposure of the Group to liquidity, foreign exchange, credit and interest rate risk are disclosed in notes 1, 20 and 
25 to the financial statements. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020 (CONTINUED)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 30 April 2020, the Company was notified of the following interests which represented 3% or more of the ordinary share 
capital of the Company. 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS (CONTINUED)

Number of shares held at 
30 April 2020

Percentage of shares held 
at 30 April 2020

Liontrust Asset Management

Investec Wealth & Investment

Vind LV AS

Gresham House Asset Management

Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management

David Hornsby

Montanaro Investment Managers

33,475,984

22,173,675

19,333,280

10,715,613

10,290,015

10,224,754

7,948,000

14.8%

9.8%

8.5%

4.7%

4.5%

4.5%

3.5%

AUDITOR
In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 a resolution proposing the reappointment of RSM UK Audit LLP as auditor will be 
put to the members at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware. Additionally, the 
directors have taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditor is aware of that information.

GOING CONCERN
Our business model and strategy are core to the understanding of our future outlook and details on both of these areas can be 
found in the Strategic Report on pages 8 to 26 along with a review of the financial position of the Group. Our strategy has been 
consistent over a number of years and has underpinned the growth and consistent delivery of strong financial results over the 
last decade.   

We consider in-year performance and longer term prospects through a cycle of planning and budgeting.  These assess revenue, 
EBITDA, cash flows and funding as well as other key metrics, specifically those relevant to our SaaS business model.

COVID-19
In light of the ongoing uncertainty triggered by the global COVID-19 pandemic, our approach to assessing going concern has 
been augmented this year.  We have undertaken enhanced reviews of macro market dynamics, current financial condition of the 
business and operational information such as customers and business risks.  

Our decisions and actions during the pandemic have been based on the principles of protecting our people, ensuring our 
business remains strong and working collaboratively with our customers through the challenges they face.   

Steps have been taken to allow our staff to be able to work on an agile and predominantly remote basis in order to follow social 
distancing, lockdown and self-isolation measures whilst mitigating the impact on client service.  The entire customer journey is 
being managed remotely; from winning and deploying new customer solutions, serving the needs of clients and managing cash 
collection.  
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The results of this strategy have been highly effective.  As noted in the Chief Executive’s report, customer retention has remained at 
95% and we have continued to add new clients.  Employee engagement has also remained strong. All of these factors combined 
with tight cost control and realisation of savings from the COVID-19 cost-reduction programme support the Directors’ view that 
the business is very well positioned to prosper.  

Current trading is strong, with robust cash generation and positive indicators of growth. The Group has a strong balance sheet 
with a conservative level of gearing with sufficient liquidity and funding facilities.  An extension to the Group’s Revolving Credit 
Facility was signed in September 2020 and provides an additional £10 million of headroom, taking the total facility to £50 million. 

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual 
financial statements.

Further information is provided in note 1 to the financial statements.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Strategic Report on pages 8 to 26 refers to the Group’s ongoing strategy and development. In addition, the directors will 
continue to seek to acquire businesses with strong intellectual property and recurring revenues operating within appropriate 
markets.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

David Hornsby 
Director

22 September 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020 (CONTINUED)

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each financial year. The directors 
are required by the AIM rules of the London Stock Exchange to prepare Group financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and have elected under company 
law to prepare the company financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

The financial statements are required by law and IFRS adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position of the Group 
and the Company and the financial performance of the Group. The Companies Act 2006 provides in relation to such financial 
statements that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to 
their achieving a fair presentation.

Under company law the directors must not approve financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the Group and Company financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopted by the EU;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and 
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
Ideagen plc website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF IDEAGEN PLC  (REGISTRATION NUMBER: 02805019) 

OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of Ideagen Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year 
ended 30 April 2020 which comprise the group statement of comprehensive income, group and company statements of financial 
position, group and company statements of changes in equity, group and company statements of cash flows and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 
April 2020 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

SUMMARY OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Key audit matters Group 
- Revenue recognition 
- Acquisition accounting 
- Development costs

Parent Company 
- There were no key audit matters specifically related to the parent 
company in the 30 April 2020 financial statements. 

Materiality Group 
- Overall materiality: £612,000 
- Performance materiality: £459,000

Parent Company 
- Overall materiality: £519,000 
- Performance materiality: £389,000 

Scope Our audit procedures covered 84% of Revenue, 89% of total assets and 88% of 
Adjusted EBITDA.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the group 
and parent company financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit 
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the group and parent company financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Key audit matter 
description

Refer to the accounting policies and estimates and judgements in note 1 and note 3.

Revenue recognition is subject to inherent complexities in the software industry. The revenue 
recognition criteria varies for each income stream as they have different performance obligations. 
There is a risk that revenue is not recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers” for customer agreements, particularly as these arrangements often cover a 
number of periods and span the year end.

How the matter was 
addressed in the 
audit

We assessed the adequacy of the group’s revenue recognition accounting policy.

We considered the processes and controls over the recognition of revenue and whether these 
continued to be appropriate and consistently applied. 

We determined whether revenue had been recognised in accordance with the group’s accounting 
policies by performing controls testing and substantive tests of detail. This included checking 
whether revenue had been appropriately deferred or accrued in the group statement of financial 
position with regard to the specific income stream and the associated performance obligations. 

ACQUISITION ACCOUNTING

Key audit matter 
description

Refer to the accounting policies and estimates and judgements in note 1 and note 21.

The group has made a number of acquisitions during the year. These transactions fall under the 
scope of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” which requires management judgement in determining 
the fair value of assets acquired, including intangible assets.

While the group have an established approach, there remains significant judgement in the 
valuation and separation of intangibles. These remain significant events in the year as each 
acquisition differs.

How the matter was 
addressed in the 
audit

We reviewed and challenged the reasonableness of the methodology and inputs used to determine 
the acquired intangible values. Our work also included a review of management’s other fair value 
adjustments including those required to apply revenue recognition policies consistently.  We also 
reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements.

DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Key audit matter 
description

Refer to the accounting policies and estimates and judgements in note 1 and note 10.

The group has incurred expenditure on development of new products which are capitalised if 
certain criteria are met in accordance with IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’. 

We focused on the capitalisation of development costs due to the impact on reported earnings 
and the judgements involved in assessing whether the IAS 38 criteria for capitalisation have been 
met.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF IDEAGEN PLC  (REGISTRATION NUMBER: 02805019)
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How the matter was 
addressed in the 
audit

We confirmed our understanding of management’s basis for capitalising development costs, 
updated our understanding of key existing and new projects and determined whether the costs 
had been appropriately capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 and the accounting policy.

Our procedures included an assessment over the appropriateness of any management judgements 
including the future expected economic benefit of capitalised projects and substantive procedures 
to assess the costs capitalised. We also assessed the reasonableness of the amortisation policies 
in place and potential impairment.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we set certain thresholds which help us to determine the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures. When evaluating whether the effects of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements 
as a whole, could reasonably influence the economic decisions of the users we take into account the qualitative nature and the 
size of the misstatements. Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality as follows:

Group Parent company

Overall materiality £612,000 £519,000

Basis for determining overall 
materiality

3.3% of adjusted EBITDA 1% of net assets (restricted for the group 
audit)

Rationale for benchmark applied Adjusted EBITDA is considered to be 
the metric used by users of the financial 
statements to review the performance of 
the group.

Performance materiality £459,000 £389,000

Basis for determining 
performance materiality

75% of overall materiality 75% of overall materiality

Reporting of misstatements to the 
Audit Committee

Misstatements in excess of £30,000 and 
misstatements below that threshold that, in 
our view, warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds. 

Misstatements in excess of £25,000 and 
misstatements below that threshold that, in 
our view, warranted reporting on qualitative 
grounds.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

The group consists of 17 components. The coverage achieved by our audit procedures was:

Full scope audits were performed for 10 components and analytical procedures at group level for the remaining 7 components.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF IDEAGEN PLC  (REGISTRATION NUMBER: 02805019)

DEVELOPMENT COSTS (CONTINUED)

16%

84%

11%

89%

Revenue Total 
assets

12%

88%

Adj 
EDITDA

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, 
we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of 
the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 - the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

 - the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

 
MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

 - adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

 - the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 - certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

 - we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 45, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF IDEAGEN PLC  (REGISTRATION NUMBER: 02805019)

Full scope

Analytical procedures
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USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Ian Wall (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
Suite A, 7th Floor, City Gate East 
Tollhouse Hill 
Nottingham, NG1 5FS

22 September 2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF IDEAGEN PLC  (REGISTRATION NUMBER: 02805019)

2020 2019

NOTES £’000 £’000

Revenue 3 56,565 46,667

Cost of sales (5,125) (3,900)

Gross profit 51,440 42,767

Operating costs 4 (32,917) (28,494)

Profit from operating activities before depreciation, amortisation, share-
based payment charges, costs of acquiring businesses, restructuring costs 
and exceptional items

18,523 14,273

Depreciation and amortisation 4 (12,927) (9,391)

Costs of acquiring businesses 9,21 (402) (1,268)

Restructuring costs 9 (830) (479)

Share-based payment charges 9,24 (1,710) (1,491)

Exceptional impairment of financial assets 9,15 (1,989) -

Operating profit 665 1,644

Net finance costs 6 (799) (263)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (134) 1,381

Taxation 8 (59) 4

(Loss)/profit for the year (193) 1,385

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 508  641

Corporation tax on exercise of options 1,447   537

Total other comprehensive income 1,955 1,178

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of the 
parent company 

1,762 2,563

Earnings per share Pence Pence

Basic 9 -0.09 0.65

Diluted 9 -0.09 0.62

GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020
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GROUP STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT  
30 APRIL 2020

2020 2019

NOTE £’000 £’000

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 10 113,788 90,749

Property, plant and equipment 11 1,404 1,069

Right of use assets 12 8,312 -

Lease receivables 13 412 -

123,916 91,818

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 15 18,441 17,547

Lease receivables 13 80 -

Financial instruments 20 92 -

Cash and cash equivalents 8,216 6,199

26,829 23,746

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 6,941 6,043

Current income tax liabilities 588 387

Lease liabilities 12 1,039 -

Financial instruments 20 116 -

Borrowings 18 25,000 7,500

Deferred revenue 22,799 18,570

Contingent consideration on business combinations 17 - 769

Deferred consideration on business combinations 19 525 1,269

57,008 34,538

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 12 7,725 -

Deferred income tax liabilities 8 9,103 7,344

16,828 7,344

Net assets 76,909 73,682

2020 2019

NOTES £’000 £’000

Equity

Issued share capital 22 2,266 2,198

Share premium account 22 55,364 53,948

Merger reserve 22 1,658 1,658

Share-based payments reserve 24 2,370 1,440

Retained earnings 13,902 13,597

Foreign currency translation reserve 1,349 841

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 76,909 73,682

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on  22 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

David Hornsby   Ben Dorks      
Director    Director

Registration number: 02805019 

GROUP STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 30 APRIL 2020 (CONTINUED)
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GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020
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2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities NOTES £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit for the year (193) 1,385

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 614 463

Amortisation of intangible non-current assets 10 11,268 8,928

Depreciation of right of use assets 12 1,045 -

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 - (7)

Share-based payment charges 24 1,710 1,491

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss 6 799 263

Taxation charge/(credit) recognised in profit or loss 8 59 (4)

Business acquisition costs in profit or loss 21 402 1,268

Restructuring costs in profit or loss 830 479

Exceptional impairment of financial assets 15 1,989 -

Loss on transfer to sublease 13 5 -

Increase in trade and other receivables (2,217) (3,914)

Increase in financial instruments debtor (92) -

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 31 (444)

Increase in financial instruments creditor 116 -

Increase in deferred revenue liability 1,691 2,438

Cash generated by operations 18,057 12,346

Net finance costs paid (1,002) (323)

Income tax received/(paid) 58 (248)

Business acquisition costs paid (877) (915)

Restructuring costs paid (218) (479)

Employer’s national insurance paid on share-based payments (20) (730)

Net cash generated by operating activities 15,998 9,651

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash outflow on acquisition of businesses net of cash acquired 21 (24,091) (27,252)

Payments of deferred consideration on business combinations 19 (1,269) (460)

Payments of contingent consideration on business combinations 17 (769) -

Payments for development costs 10 (3,929) (2,683)

Payments for property, plant and equipment 11 (895) (679)

Purchase of software 10 (35) -

Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment - 7

Net cash used in investing activities (30,988) (31,067)

GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR  
ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

2020 2019

Cash flows from financing activities NOTES £’000 £’000

Proceeds from placing of equity shares 22 - 20,000

Payments for share issue costs 22 - (625)

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share option schemes 22 1,307 397

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share incentive scheme 22 92 90

Cost of shares purchased under the share incentive scheme (3) (3)

New borrowings 18 21,250 6,000

Repayment of borrowings 18 (4,007) (3,250)

Principal paid on lease liabilities 12 (1,020) -

Lease debtor receipts 11 -

Equity dividends paid 23 (656) (555)

Net cash generated by financing activities 16,974 22,054

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 1,984 638

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 28 6,199 5,532

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash balances held in foreign currencies 33 29

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 28 8,216 6,199

GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
30 APRIL 2020 (CONTINUED)
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2020 2019

NOTES £’000 £’000

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 10 - 26

Property, plant and equipment 11 235 221

Right of use assets 12 6,662 -

Investments in subsidiaries 14 93,672 71,767

Deferred income tax asset 8 70 70

100,639 72,084

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 15 14,359 12,693

Financial instruments 20 92 -

Cash and cash equivalents 1,697 1,438

16,148 14,131

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 14,351 11,877

Lease liabilities 12 259 -

Borrowings 18 25,000 7,500

Deferred revenue 148 823

Deferred consideration on business combinations 19 525 500

40,283 20,700

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 12 6,390 -

Net assets 70,114 65,515

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT  
30 APRIL 2020

2020 2019

NOTES £’000 £’000

Equity

Issued share capital 22 2,266 2,198

Share premium account 22 55,364 53, 948

Merger reserve 22 1,709 1,709

Share-based payments reserve 24 2,370 1,440

Retained earnings 8,405 6,220

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 70,114 65,515

The Company reported a profit for the year of £637,000 (2019: £77,000).

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 22 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

David Hornsby   Ben Dorks      
Director    Director 

Registration number: 02805019

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 APRIL 2020 (CONTINUED)
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2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities NOTES £’000 £’000

Profit for the year 637 77

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 96 71

Amortisation of intangible assets 10 26 52

Depreciation of right of use assets 12 351 -

Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss 774 266

Taxation charge recognised in profit or loss 1,273 413

Business acquisition costs in profit or loss 21 402 1,268

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 60 (22)

Increase in financial instruments debtor (92) -

Movement in intra-group balances 8,348 1,205

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (63) 908

(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue (675) 126

Cash generated by operations 11,137 4,364

Net finance costs paid (976) (326)

Business acquisition costs paid (877) (915)

Net cash generated by operating activities 9,284 3,123

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments in subsidiaries 21 (26,346) (25,380)

Payment of deferred consideration on business combinations 19 (500) (460)

Payments for property, plant and equipment 11 (110) (200)

Net cash used in investing activities (26,956) (26,040)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from placing of equity shares 22 - 20,000

Payments for share issue costs 22 - (625)

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share option schemes 22 1,307 397

Proceeds from issue of shares under the share incentive scheme 22 92 90

Cost of shares purchased under the share incentive scheme (3) (3)

New borrowings 18 21,250 6,000

Repayment of borrowings 18 (3,750) (3,250)

Principal paid on lease liabilities 12 (309) -

Equity dividends paid 23 (656) (555)

Net cash generated by financing activities 17,931 22,054

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year 259 (863)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 28 1,438 2,301

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 28 1,697 1,438

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED  
30 APRIL 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES

REPORTING ENTITY, PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

Ideagen plc is a public limited company, incorporated and domiciled in England & Wales. The ordinary shares of the Company 
are traded on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.  

The principal activities of the Group are the development and sale of information management software to businesses in highly 
regulated industries and the provision of associated professional services and support.

The business has a track record of organic and acquisitive growth, having made 15 acquisitions before 30 April 2019 and a further 
3 in the year ended April 2020.  There is an established process for the execution and integration of acquisitions, both from an 
operational and financial perspective.  This includes a 72-point checklist and staff members across the business with deep 
integration experience.   The approach to accounting for goodwill and intangibles is set out in the Accounting Policies note below.        

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as 
adopted by the European Union, and IFRIC interpretations applicable as at 30 April 2020 and with those parts of the Companies 
Act 2006 applicable to those companies reporting under IFRS.

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, being the functional currency of the Group, generally rounded to the 
nearest thousand. The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
assets and liabilities and share based payments which are carried at fair value. 

The Group financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings made 
up to 30 April 2020. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-group balances and transactions 
are eliminated. The financial statements of all subsidiaries are prepared up to the same date as the parent Company with 
the exception of Ideagen EOOD in Bulgaria which makes its financial statements up to 31 December each year as required by 
Bulgarian law.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European 
Union requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reported period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

GOING CONCERN

Our going concern assessment and related disclosure has been enhanced this year in view of the ongoing uncertainty around 
the COVID-19 pandemic, and its potential macroeconomic impact.  The approach focuses on a review of the following factors:

• External market dynamics and any changes or trends likely to impact demand or the competitive landscape

• Current financial condition of the business, including recurring revenue, profitability and cashflow trends and forecasts

• Banking facilities and liquidity position

• Customer relationships

• Other business risks

A comprehensive assessment is made of each area taking into account all available information – internal and external – and 
focused on a one year period from approval of the financial statements.  

Our decisions and actions during the pandemic have been based on the principles of protecting our people, ensuring our 
business remains strong and working collaboratively with our customers through the challenges they face.   Management of this 
transition has been effective and due to systems and processes established prior to the pandemic has had a limited impact on 
the operational performance of the Group.  
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1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
At the outset of the pandemic in the UK, the directors reviewed the business and took the strategic decision to reduce cost via a 
targeted redundancy programme.  These decisions were both an acceleration of strategic initiatives in moving towards a digital 
marketing function and a reshaping of the operational cost base.  The savings provided additional financial resilience at a point 
when COVID-19 was starting to unfold.

The situation in 2020 is unprecedented and the overall economic impact still unknown. The Board is encouraged by the buoyancy 
shown in terms of trading results but there remains an overarching macro uncertainty to which Ideagen is not immune. Given 
the Group’s large recurring revenue base and relatively predictable costs, we are able to forecast with a reasonable degree of 
confidence. These uncertain times also present opportunities. Some of the Group’s core sectors have seen growth and there is 
scope to take advantage of market share and acquisition opportunities.  

The Group has sufficient liquidity and funding facilities.  As at 30 April 2020 the Group was £25 million drawn down against its total 
Revolving Credit Facility (“RCF”) of £40 million (which is in place until March 2023) and had cash on hand of £8.2 million.  Since the 
year-end, the Group acquired Qualsys Limited.  The initial £14 million consideration paid at completion was funded via a further 
drawdown of the RCF. In September 2020, the RCF facility was extended by £10 million to provide additional headroom. The 
Group’s facilities are subject to certain financial covenants.

The Directors have prepared trading and cash flow forecasts for a period of one year from the date of approval of these financial 
statements.  The base case assumptions make allowance, where relevant, for anticipated effects of COVID-19. These have been 
subject to sensitivity analysis which considered reasonable downside scenarios and further stress testing of the forecasts.

The Board is satisfied that even under these scenarios there remains sufficient headroom for both liquidity and covenants through 
the period considered. This also assumed no mitigating actions which would be in the Group’s control, but the situation where 
this would be required is considered unlikely.

While the future economic outlook remains uncertain, profitable current trading, cash generation, positive indicators of growth, 
and sufficient facilities means that the Directors remain confident that the Group is in a secure financial position and well 
placed to achieve its plans.  The Directors therefore have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate cash 
and covenant headroom for the foreseeable future.  On this basis, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring services or goods to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Group: identifies the contract with a 
customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price; allocates the transaction 
price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or 
service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts 
the transfer to the customer of the services or goods promised.

Revenue from the sale of perpetual software licences or software development kits on a ‘right of use’ basis, where no customisation 
of the software is required, is recognised at a point in time once the licence has been delivered to the customer and the customer 
can obtain benefit from the licence or kit.

Revenue from the sale of perpetual software licences on a ‘right of use’ basis, where customisation of the software is required in 
order for the customer to obtain benefit from the licence, is recognised over the period of time during which the customisation 
work is carried out in a manner which reflects the varying level of effort involved.

Revenues from the provision of customisation, configuration or training services are recognised over a period of time as these 
services are delivered to the customer.

Revenues from supporting perpetual software licences and revenues from the sale of software on a ‘right of access’ basis 
including software as a service, software hosting and software sold on a subscription basis are recognised over the period of 
time that the customer benefits from the provision of these services.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Revenues from the sale of third-party hardware are recognised once the associated performance obligation has been satisfied 
which will be once the hardware has been delivered and the customer is able to benefit from it.

Software as a service, software hosting, software sold on a subscription basis and support for perpetual licences are invoiced in 
advance. A deferred revenue liability is recognised in the statement of financial position to represent the element of the service 
or support revenue deferred to be recognised as revenue in the future.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES
In preparing the financial information of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the date of those transactions. At the end of the financial year, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of the consolidated financial information, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into 
sterling using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each financial year. Income and expenses are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in a foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

LEASES
The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore comparative information to 30 April 
2019 has not been restated and is presented under IAS 17. The details of accounting policies under both IAS 17 and IFRS 16 are 
presented below.

Policies applicable from 1 May 2019

Leases – company as lessee

At inception of the contract, the company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. It recognises a right-of-use asset 
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee. The right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities are presented as separate line items in the statement of financial position. 

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the lessor over the lease term, with 
the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not readily 
determinable, in which case the group’s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, plus lease payments made on 
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and plus any initial direct costs. They are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:

• Leases of low value assets; and

• Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.

 
Policies applicable prior to 1 May 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.
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1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group uses foreign currency forward contracts to reduce its exposure to risks from foreign exchange movements. Derivatives 
are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair 
value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss, within operating costs.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. Typically, such financial assets will be either: (i) held for trading, where they are acquired 
for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit, or a derivative; or (ii) designated as such upon 
initial recognition where permitted. Fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
The Group presents as exceptional items on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income those material items of 
income and expense which, because of the nature and expected infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate 
presentation to allow shareholders to better understand the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate 
comparison with prior years.

TAXATION
The tax charge or credit is based on the result for the year and comprises current and deferred income tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the year-end date and includes any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
included in the financial statements and the tax base of those assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
only to the extent that the directors consider that it is probable that there will be suitable taxable profits in the future against 
which an asset can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of realisation, 
provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the year-end date. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax 
liabilities arising in different tax jurisdictions are not offset.

PENSIONS AND POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme which is available to all employees. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. Payments are made by the Group to this scheme 
and contributions are charged in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they become payable.

GOODWILL
Goodwill arising on business combinations is initially measured at cost being the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid 
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. Costs of acquiring businesses are 
expensed as incurred. Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed annually for impairment. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit which contains the goodwill. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed annually with the effect of any 
changes being reflected on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their 
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 
reported at their initial fair value less amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Research costs are expensed as incurred.  An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on a project is only 
recognised if management considers that it is technically feasible and that there are sufficient resources available to complete 
the asset so that it will be available for use or sale, that it intends to complete and is able to sell or use the asset to generate future 
economic benefits and that the costs of the development project can be measured reliably. Following the initial recognition of 
the expenditure, the asset will be carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is applied 
once the asset is available for sale to write off the cost over the period which is expected to benefit from the sale of the asset.

The annual amortisation rates applied to the Group’s intangible assets on a straight-line basis are as follows: 

 Software    20%  

 Development costs   20%  

 Customer relationships   10%

Amortisation charges are included in ‘Depreciation and amortisation’ in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

THE COMPANY’S INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost less any impairment in its separate financial statements. Costs 
of acquiring businesses are expensed as incurred. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the 
investment. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is 
calculated at the annual rates shown below so as to write off the cost, less any estimated residual values, over the expected 
useful economic lives of the assets concerned:

• Office equipment at 15% - 33% on a straight line basis

• Motor vehicles at 25% - 33% on a reducing balance basis

• Leasehold improvements over the remaining lease term

• All other plant and equipment assets at 15% - 33% on a straight line basis.

The remaining useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment are reassessed by the directors each year.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any indication exists, the carrying values are written down to the recoverable 
amount.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets at least annually to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount provided that this does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.
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1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for expected credit losses.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. The expected 
loss rate against certain balances is adjusted where there are specific indicators that the trade receivable is either irrecoverable 
or the risk of loss is high. Indicators include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group 
or a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than 120 days past due.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand. For the purpose of the 
Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents as defined above are stated net of any outstanding bank overdrafts.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Equity and debt instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and borrowings which are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

An equity instrument is any contract which evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group, such as share capital and share premium, are recognised at the proceeds 
received net of direct issue costs.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
Contingent consideration is initially measured at fair value at the date of completion of the acquisition.

The accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration arising on business combinations that do not qualify 
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that 
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates and the 
corresponding gain or loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The cost of equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value on the date they are granted. 
Where there are no market conditions attaching to the exercise of the options, the fair value is determined using a range of inputs 
into a Black-Scholes pricing model. Where there are market conditions attaching to the exercise of the options a trinomial option 
pricing model is used to determine fair value based on a range of inputs. The value of equity-settled transactions is charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled with a corresponding credit 
to a share-based payments reserve in equity.

On the exercise of share options, an amount equal to the fair value of the option at the date it was granted is transferred from 
the share-based payments reserve into retained earnings.

The Group has a Share Incentive Scheme under which all eligible employees can be awarded free shares. The fair value of shares 
awarded under the Scheme is the market value of those shares at the date of grant which is then recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period. The free shares awarded are issued at nominal value and held in a trust managed by a third-party 
trustee. On vesting, an amount equal to the fair value of the shares at the date the shares were awarded is transferred from the 
share-based payments reserve into retained earnings. 
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1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

DIVIDENDS
Dividends distributed to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders or, in the case of interim dividends, when they are paid.

NEW OR AMENDED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new or amended 
Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

The accounting policies are the same as those applied in the Group’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year 
ended 30 April 2019 with the exception of the changes in respect of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ which was adopted on 1 May 2019. The effect 
of initially applying this standard is noted below.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” with effect from 1 May 2019, replacing IAS 17 “Leases”. This means that some previously 
unrecognised operating leases are now recognised in the Statement of financial position as Lease liabilities and Right of use 
assets. Rent payments on some of these leases are no longer treated as a charge within Operating Expenses in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Instead a depreciation charge on the Right of use assets and an interest expense on the Lease liabilities 
are now recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

On adoption of IFRS 16 the Group has used the modified retrospective approach to transition. When applying IFRS 16, the Group 
has used the following practical expedients on transition:

• reliance on the previous identification of a lease under IAS 17;

• exclusion of initial direct costs from the measurement of the right of use asset at transition;

• the classification of all long leases which had less than 12 months remaining at transition date as short-term leases;

• the measurement of the value of Right of use assets on transition as an amount equal to the corresponding lease liability 
adjusted for any prepaid lease payments;

• the use of hindsight in determining the length of the lease.

The Group is applying the accounting policy recognition exemptions set out in paragraph 5 of IFRS 16 in respect of short-term 
leases (leases of less than 12 months) and small value leases. Under IFRS 16, short-term leases and small value leases are not 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and the lease payments are charged as an expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

The Group has applied judgement in its assessment of the length of certain leases where there are break clauses or options to 
extend the lease. The conclusions drawn by management in deciding whether lease break clauses or lease extension options are 
likely to be applied are based on its current assessment of the longer-term growth expectations of the Group and its associated 
future office space requirements. 

As noted above, the Group is applying the modified retrospective approach to transition and has therefore not restated any prior 
period information. Accordingly, the results for the year ended 30 April 2020 are not directly comparable with those presented in 
the prior period under the previously applicable accounting standard IAS 17 “Leases”.

Details of the impact of the above are given in note 2 below. 

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 April 2020 reporting 
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group.  

• IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
(Amendment – Definition of Material)

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendment – Definition of a Business)

• Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The Group does not believe that the above changes will have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Group. 
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1 | ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported for assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. However, the nature of estimation means that actual outcomes 
could differ from those estimates.

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and estimates which have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Acquisition intangibles

The Group initially measures the separable intangible assets acquired in a business combination at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition. Management judgement is required in deriving a number of assumptions which are used in assessing the fair value 
of each acquisition intangible including the timing and amount of future incremental cash flows expected to be generated by 
the asset and in calculating an appropriate cost of capital. Management judgement is also required in assessing the useful 
economic lives of these assets for the purposes of amortisation.

Deferred income tax assets

Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred income tax assets that can be recognised, based 
on the likely timing and level of future taxable profits. Details of the deferred income tax assets recognised in respect of trading 
losses and share-based payments are given in Note 8.

Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date at which they are granted. Judgement is required in determining the most appropriate valuation model and the most 
appropriate inputs into the model including the level of volatility and the expected life of the option. Further information is given 
in Note 24.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in line with the accounting policy noted above. This involves 
judgement regarding the future development of the business and the estimation of the level of future growth, cash flows and an 
appropriate discount rate to support the carrying value of goodwill. 

Trade and other receivables

Management judgement is required in considering the recoverability of debts and in the estimation of expected credit losses 
which may be incurred. Further information is provided in notes 15 and 25.

Impairment of other assets

The Group reviews the carrying value of all other assets for indications of impairment at each period end. If indicators of 
impairment exist, the carrying value of the asset is subject to further testing to determine whether its carrying value exceeds its 
recoverable amount. This process will usually involve the estimation of future cash flows which are likely to be generated by the 
asset.

Development costs

Management judgement is required in assessing the fair value of development costs capitalised including the future economic 
benefit expected to be generated by those assets and in calculating the attributable costs. Management judgement is also 
required in assessing the useful economic lives of these assets for the purposes of amortisation. Further information is provided 
in note 10.

Revenue recognition

Management judgement is required in assessing the point at which revenue should be recognised. Revenue is recognised at 
the point when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer through the satisfaction of performance 
obligations. 
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2 | EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES – IFRS 16 “LEASES”
The Group has adopted IFRS 16 with a transition date of 1 May 2019. The Group has chosen not to restate comparatives on 
adoption of the standard, and therefore, the revised requirements are not reflected in the prior year financial statements to 30 
April 2019. Rather, these changes have been processed at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 May 2019). Details of the impact of 
the adoption of IFRS 16 are given below. 

Effective from 1 January 2019, IFRS 16 has replaced IAS 17 “Leases” and IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement Contains 
a Lease”.

IFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring the recognition of assets and liabilities for all leases, together 
with options to exclude leases where the lease term is 12 months or less, or where the underlying asset is of low value. IFRS 16 
substantially carries forward the lessor accounting in IAS 17, with the distinction between operating leases and finance leases 
being retained. The Group does not have significant leasing activities acting as a lessor.

Transition Method and Practical Expedients Utilised
The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, with recognition of transitional adjustments on the date 
of initial application (1 May 2019), without restatement of comparative figures. 

The Group elected to apply the practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial 
application. Contracts entered into before the transition date that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not 
reassessed. The definition of a lease under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 May 2019. 

IFRS 16 provides for certain optional practical expedients, including those related to the initial adoption of the standard. The 
Group applied the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases under 
IAS 17:

(a) Apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics; 

(b) Exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of initial application for leases 
where the right of use asset was determined as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement date;

(c) Reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous as opposed to preparing an impairment review 
under IAS 36 as at the date of initial application; and

(d) Applied the exemption not to recognise right of use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease 
term remaining as of the date of initial application.

As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises right of use assets and 
lease liabilities for most leases. However, the Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for some 
leases of low value assets based on the value of the underlying asset when new or for short-term leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less.

As an intermediate lessor, the Group accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It assesses the 
lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right of use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the 
underlaying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it 
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease. 
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2 | EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES – IFRS 16 “LEASES” 
(CONTINUED)
The adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 May 2019 has impacted certain categories of assets and liabilities in the Group Statement of 
Financial Position as set out below.

30 April 2019 
(IAS17 basis)

IFRS16 
impact

1 May 2019 
(IFRS16 basis)

£’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Right of use assets - 2,4031 2,403

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 17,547 (76)2 17,471

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities - (590) (590)

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities - (1,737) (1,737)

Net assets 73,682 - 73,682

1 The right of use assets recognised under IFRS16 were in respect of leases of office premises. 
2 The impact on Trade and other receivables was in respect of lease prepayments.

There was no overall impact on Net Assets or Equity from the initial adoption of IFRS16 on 1 May 2019.

Lease liabilities reconciliation

£’000

Undiscounted future minimum lease payments under operating leases at 30 April 2019 2,513

Impact of discounting (72)

Short-term leases expiring before 30 April 2020 (114)

Lease liabilities at 1 May 2019 2,327

Future lease payments at 1 May 2019 were discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rates as follows:

•  UK leases   1%

• US leases  2%

• Other overseas leases  2.75%

The Group has applied the practical expedient to classify all long leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the 
date of adoption of IFRS16 as short-term leases. All other leases of under 12 months length are also classified as short-term 
leases.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

2 | EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES – IFRS 16 “LEASES” 
(CONTINUED)
In order to show the impact of IFRS 16 and to facilitate a comparison of results with the prior year, a reconciliation is presented 
below of the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 as reported on an IFRS 16 basis with the 
former IAS17 basis.

30 April 2020 
(IFRS 16 basis)

IFRS16 
impact

30 April 2020 
(IAS 17 basis)

£’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 56,565 56,565

Cost of sales (5,125) (5,125)

Gross profit 51,440 51,440

Operating costs (32,917) (1,055)1 (33,972)

Profit from operating activities before 
depreciation, amortisation, share-based 
payment charges and exceptional items 

18,523 (1,055) 17,468

Depreciation and amortisation (12,927) 1,0452 (11,882)

Costs of acquiring businesses (402) (402)

Restructuring costs (830) (830)

Share-based payment charges (1,710) (1,710)

Exceptional impairment of financial assets (1,989) (1,989)

Profit from operating activities 665 (10) 665

Finance costs (799)  493 (750)

Loss before taxation (134) 39 (95)

Notes

1  Reduced lease rental charges on IFRS16 basis

2  Additional depreciation on right of use assets recognised under IFRS16

3  Additional Interest cost on leases recognised under IFRS16



Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

75 74 

Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

2 | EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES – IFRS 16 “LEASES” 
(CONTINUED)
The adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 May 2019 has impacted certain categories of assets and liabilities in the Company Statement of 
Financial Position as set out below.

30 April 2019 
(IAS17 basis)

IFRS16 
impact

1 May 2019 
(IFRS16 basis)

£’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Right of use assets - 1,1681 1,168

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 12,693 (55)2 12,638

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities - (314) (314)

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities - (799) (799)

Net assets 65,515 - 65,515

1 The right of use assets recognised under IFRS16 were in respect of leases of office premises. 
2 The impact on Trade and other receivables was in respect of lease prepayments.

There was no overall impact on Net Assets or Equity of the Company from the initial adoption of IFRS16 on 1 May 2019.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

3 | REVENUE
The directors consider that the Group has a single business segment, being the sale of information management software to 
highly regulated industries. The operations of the Group are managed centrally with group-wide functions covering sales and 
marketing, development, professional services, customer support and finance and administration.

An analysis of revenue by product or service is given below.

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Recurring software subscription/SaaS 22,092 13,727

Recurring support & maintenance 20,993 17,452

Total recurring revenues 43,085 31,179

Software – new licences & development kits 7,189 9,694

Professional services 5,910 5,307

Other revenues 381 487

56,565 46,667

Revenue recognised on an “Over a period of time” basis 48,995 36,486

Revenue recognised on a “Point in time” basis 7,570 10,181

56,565 46,667

An analysis of external revenue by location of customers and non-current assets by location of assets is given below:

External revenue by  
location of customers

Non-current assets by  
location of assets*

2020 2019 2020 2019

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 24,205 17,682 101,775 70,114

North America 18,861 17,822 15,094 14,834

Europe 6,548 5,429 4,010 4,229

Middle East 2,379 2,354 29 3

Rest of the World 4,572 3,380 712 155

Unallocated - - 2,287 2,483

56,565 46,667 123,907 91,818

*Non-current assets exclude deferred income tax assets. 
No single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue in either year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020



Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

77 76 

Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

4 | OPERATING COSTS

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries (note 5) 22,929 19,716

Operating lease charges – land & buildings* 166 929

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (7) 

Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 3 (67)

Net losses on financial instruments measured at FVTPL 24 -

Other operating costs 9,795 7,923

32,917 28,494

Depreciation and amortisation:

Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets 9,454 7,548

Amortisation of other intangible assets 1,814 1,380

Total amortisation of intangible assets 11,268 8,928

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 614 463

Depreciation of right of use asset 1,045 -

Total depreciation and amortisation 12,927 9,391

Total research and development costs 8,734 6,424

Less: development costs capitalised (3,929) (2,683)

Research and development costs expensed 4,805 3,741

Auditor’s remuneration

 - The audit of the Company’s annual accounts 12 12

Fees payable for other services provided by the Auditor and its related entities:

 - The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries’ annual accounts 141 124

 - Tax compliance and advisory services 31 33

*Operating lease charges – land and buildings is on an IFRS16 basis in 2020 and an IAS17 basis in 2019.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

5 | PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES
The average number of staff, including directors, employed by the Group during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2020 2019

NUMBER NUMBER

Administrative staff 57 68

Sales and marketing 147 124

Technical and support 333 259

537 451

The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 23,466 19,770

Social security costs 2,578 2,002

Other pension costs (note 27) 814 627

26,858 22,399

Less: internal development costs capitalised (3,929) (2,683)

22,929 19,716

Share based payment costs (note 24)

 - on options granted 1,248 802

 - on share incentive scheme 442 279

 - national insurance 20 410

24,639 21,207

6 | NET FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Borrowing facility fees amortised (108) (35)

Interest payable on bank borrowings (656) (233)

Bank interest receivable 14 5

Interest expense on lease liabilities (53) -

Interest income on lease receivables 4 -

(799) (263)
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7 | DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SHARE OPTIONS
The total remuneration of the directors (including fees) for the year was as follows:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Directors’ remuneration 942 1,490

Directors’ pension contributions 42 37

Total per Remuneration Committee report on page 31 984 1,527

Aggregate gains made by directors on the exercise of share options 7,138 2,718

The remuneration of the highest paid director during the year ended 30 April 2020 was £257,000 (2019: £432,000). Details of the 
remuneration of individual directors is included in the Remuneration Committee report on page 31.

8 | TAXATION
The taxation charge/(credit) recognised in the Group Statement of. Comprehensive Income can be analysed as follows:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Current income tax

UK corporation tax on profit for the current year 1,521 610

Overseas income tax charge for the current year 664 377

Adjustments in respect of prior period – UK (76) -

Adjustments in respect of prior period – Overseas (222) -

1,887 987

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax credit for the current year (1,828) (991)

Total taxation charge/(credit) recognised in the current year 59 (4)
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8 | TAXATION (CONTINUED)
The taxation for the year is higher than (2019: lower than) the average rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2019: 19%). The 
differences are reconciled below:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit before taxation (134) 1,381

Tax on profit at average standard rate of 19% (2019: 19%) (25) 262

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 144 228

Enhanced R&D tax relief (494) (506)

Effect on deferred tax from change in current tax rate 519 (42)

Different tax rates in overseas jurisdictions 26 119

Movement in deferred tax not recognised 40 (65)

Withholding tax expense relief 147 -

Adjustment in respect of prior period (298) -

Taxation charge / (credit) recognised for the current year 59 (4) 

A further taxation credit of £1,050,000 (2019: £250,000) in respect of share-based payment charges was reflected directly in 
equity reserves.

The movements in recognised deferred income tax assets during the year were as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: Group Trading losses Share-based 
payments Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 May 2018 - - -

On acquisition of businesses 292 - 292

Recognised in profit or loss (292) - (292)

Recognised in equity - 250 250

Offset against deferred tax liabilities - (250) (250)

At 30 April 2019 - - -

On acquisition of businesses 841 - 841

Recognised in equity - (1,050) (1,050)

Offset against deferred tax liabilities (841) 1,050 209

At 30 April 2019 - - -
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8 | TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax assets: Company Trading losses

£’000

At 1 May 2018 and 1 May 2019 70

Recognised in profit or loss -

At 30 April 2019 and 30 April 2020
70

The deferred income tax assets at 30 April 2020 above are expected to be utilised after more than one year.

The deferred income tax assets have only been recognised to the extent that it is considered probable that they can be 
recovered against future taxable profits based on profit forecasts for the foreseeable future.

In addition to the recognised deferred income tax assets set out above, at 30 April 2020 there are also unrecognised deferred 
income tax assets in respect of trading losses of £688,000 (2019: £525,000) in the Group and £427,000 (2019: £363,000) in the 
Company.

The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year were as follows:

Intangibles

Group £’000

At 1 May 2018 (5,322)

Recognised in profit or loss 1,283

Recognised on business combinations (3,478)

Foreign exchange differences (77)

Offset against deferred tax assets 250

At 30 April 2019 (7,344)

Recognised in profit or loss 1,828

Recognised on business combinations (3,312)

Foreign exchange differences (66)

Offset against deferred tax assets (209)

At 30 April 2020 (9,103)
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8 | TAXATION (CONTINUED)
The deferred tax liabilities at 30 April 2020 are expected to crystallise as follows:

Group £’000

Within 1 year (1,218)

After more than 1 year (7,885)

(9,103)

Change in corporation tax rate

Deferred tax has been recognised at the substantively enacted rate at the year end in line with when the related timing 
differences are expected to reverse. In the prior accounting period deferred tax assets and liabilities expected to reverse after 1 
April 2020 were recognised at 17%. However, changes in the 2020 budget have been substantively enacted which will keep the 
corporation tax rate at 19%. This change has resulted in a deferred tax charge of £519,000. 

9 | EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing 
the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year as adjusted for the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The following tables set out the computations for basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year ended 30 April 2020 Earnings Weighted average 
number of shares

Per-share     
amount

£’000  pence

Basic EPS

Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent (193) 223,167,142 (0.09)

Diluted loss per share

The weighted average number of shares and the loss for the year for the purposes of calculating diluted loss per share are the 
same as for the basic loss per share calculation. This is because the outstanding share options would have the effect of reducing 
the loss per share and would not, therefore, be dilutive under the terms of IAS 33.

Year ended 30 April 2019
Earnings Weighted average 

number of shares
Per-share     
amount

£’000  pence

Basic EPS

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,385 212,825,943 0.65

Effect of dilutive securities: share options - 9,647,629

Diluted EPS

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,385 222,473,572 0.62
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9 | EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
In order to better demonstrate the performance of the Group, an adjusted earnings per share calculation has been presented 
below which adds back or deducts items outlined in further detail below, which are typically adjusted for by users of financial 
statements. The calculations of the adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are based on the following information:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent (193) 1,385

Adjustments:

Costs of acquiring businesses 402 1,268

Share-based payment charges 1,710 1,491

Restructuring costs 830 479

Exceptional impairment of financial assets (trade receivables) 1,989 -

Deferred taxation on share-based payment charges (121) 1

Amortisation of acquisition-related intangibles (Note 4) 9,454 7,548

Deferred taxation on amortisation of acquisition-related intangibles (1,348) (1,500)

Current tax on restructuring costs (158) -

Current tax on exceptional impairment of financial assets (receivables) (378) -

Adjusted earnings 12,187 10,672

Weighted average number of shares: Basic adjusted EPS calculation 223,167,142 212,825,943

Effect of dilutive securities: share options 4,396,115 9,647,629

Weighted average number of shares: Diluted adjusted EPS calculation 227,563,257 222,473,572

Adjusted earnings per share: 2020 2019

pence pence

Basic 5.46 5.01

Diluted 5.36 4.80

Adjustments to earnings and EBITDA

Share-based payment charges are in respect of the Group’s equity settled share option schemes and the share incentive scheme 
and are excluded in the calculation of adjusted earnings and EBITDA due to their volatility from year to year which impacts on 
the underlying level of profitability.

Restructuring costs relate to redundancy and other costs linked to the COVID-19 pandemic and the closure of offices. Restructuring 
costs and the one-off costs related to the acquisition of businesses such as professional fees and stamp duty are excluded in the 
calculation of adjusted earnings and EBITDA as they are not part of the underlying trading activities of the Group and relate to 
events which are not expected to reoccur.

The exceptional impairment of receivables is a non-recurring charge this year. Due to COVID-19 related uncertainties, the 
directors have re-assessed the recoverability of certain trade receivables and those with customers operating in markets such as 
aviation and other impacted industrial sectors. It was concluded that specific balances in respect of three customers, which had 
originally been recognised in previous periods, had an increased risk of recoverability and would therefore not be pursued and 
were written off. Additional expected credit losses were also recognised for customers in markets expected to be impacted. This 
has been excluded in the calculation of adjusted earnings and EBITDA as it is not expected to reoccur.
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10 | INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group Goodwill Software Customer 
relationships

Development 
costs Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2018 24,771 19,666 28,138 7,969 80,544

Acquisition through business combinations 
(note 21)

16,869 5,255 14,120 - 36,244

Foreign exchange differences 178 101 186 - 465

Additions from internal development - - - 2,683 2,683

At 30 April 2019 41,818 25,022 42,444 10,652 119,936

Acquisition through business combinations 
(note 21)

12,337 4,946 12,592 - 29,875

Foreign exchange differences 211 79 178 - 468

Additions - 35 - - 35

Additions from internal development - - - 3,929 3,929

At 30 April 2020 54,366 30,082 55,214 14,581 154,243

Amortisation

At 1 May 2018 - 10,620 7,114 2,521 20,255

Amortisation expense - 3,915 3,634 1,379 8,928

Foreign exchange differences - 2 2 - 4

At 30 April 2019 - 14,537 10,750 3,900 29,187

Amortisation expense - 4,347 5,107 1,814 11,268

At 30 April 2020 - 18,884 15,857 5,714 40,455

Net carrying amount

At 30 April 2020 54,366 11,198 39,357 8,867 113,788

At 30 April 2019 41,818 10,485 31,694 6,752 90,749
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10 | INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
Goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to the following Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”):

£’000

GRC CGU 53,116

Content & clinical CGU 1,250

54,366

The GRC CGU comprises the businesses of the acquisitions of Gael, Pentana, Covalent, Pleasetech, IPI Solutions, Logen, Ideagen 
Software, Ideagen Capture, Proquis, Medforce, InspectionXpert, Morgan Kai, Scannell Solutions, Redland, Optima and Workrite.

The Content & Clinical CGU comprises the businesses of the acquisitions of Plumtree, MSS and EIBS.

These goodwill amounts were tested for impairment at 30 April 2020 by comparing the carrying value of the cash generating unit 
with the recoverable amount. The carrying value of the cash generating unit comprises acquired intangibles (goodwill, software 
and customer relationships) and working capital. The recoverable amount was determined using a value in use methodology 
based on discounted cash flow projections. The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations were as follows:

i.   The operating cash flows for these businesses for the year to 30 April 2021 are taken from the budget approved by the   
 Board which is closely linked with recent historical performance and current sales opportunities. The operating cash flow   
 budget is most sensitive to the level of new business sales;

ii.  No growth has been assumed in operating cash flows for the remainder of the value in use calculation period;

iii. A pre-tax discount rate of 10% has been used;

iv. The use of cash flow projections over longer than a 5 year period is considered appropriate as many of the businesses   
 comprising both of the CGUs have been operating for over 15 years, have strong recurring revenue bases and the Group   
 continues to invest in the development of the products in both CGUs.

GRC CGU
On the basis of the above assumptions and using projection periods of 10 years, 15 years and in perpetuity, the recoverable 
amount of the CGU, based on a value in use methodology, is estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU by the 
amounts shown in the table below. Future annual operating cash inflows, which are most sensitive to the level of new business 
sales, would need to be consistently lower than the no-growth assumption used in the value in use calculation by the percentages 
shown in the table below to reduce the recoverable amount of the CGU to below the carrying amount. Based on the historic 
sales performance of the business and actions being taken to grow the business, the directors do not currently expect this 
reduced level of future annual operating cash flows to occur.

Projection period in value in use calculations

In perpetuity 15 years 10 years

Amount by which recoverable amount of the CGU, based on value 
in use, exceeds the carrying amount (£’000)

74,400 42,457 18,385

Reduction in annual operating cash flows below the no-growth 
assumption used in value in use calculations required to reduce 
the recoverable amount of the CGU below the carrying amount

47% 34% 18%
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10 | INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

CONTENT & CLINICAL CGU
On the basis of the above assumptions and using projection periods of 10 years, 15 years and in perpetuity, the recoverable 
amount of the CGU, based on a value in use methodology, is estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU by the 
amounts shown in the table below. Future annual operating cash inflows, which are most sensitive to the level of new business 
sales, would need to be consistently lower than the no-growth assumption used in the value in use calculation by the percentages 
shown in the table below to reduce the recoverable amount of the CGU to below the carrying amount. Based on the historic 
sales performance of the business and actions being taken to grow the business, the directors do not currently expect this 
reduced level of future annual operating cash flows to occur.

Projection period in value in use calculations

In perpetuity 15 years 10 years

Amount by which recoverable amount of the CGU, based on value 
in use, exceeds the carrying amount (£’000)

7,667 5,881 4,535

Reduction in annual operating cash flows below the no-growth 
assumption used in value in use calculations required to reduce 
the recoverable amount of the CGU below the carrying amount

87% 84% 80%

DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Development costs are internally generated. At 30 April 2020, the carrying amount of ongoing development projects on which 
amortisation has not yet commenced was £2,541,000 (2019: £1,946,000). At 30 April 2020, the carrying amount of completed 
development projects on which amortisation is being charged was £6,326,000 (2019: £4,806,000). The weighted average 
remaining amortisation period of these assets at 30 April 2020 is 2.65 years (2019: 2.8 years).

The remaining amortisation periods and carrying amounts of the Group’s other intangible assets are as follows:

Remaining amortisation period (years) Carrying amount (£’000)

Customer relationships 2020 2019 2020 2019

Ideagen Capture 0.2 1.2 8 56

Ideagen Software 0.9 1.9 39 81

Proquis 1.7 2.7 70 110

Plumtree 2.6 3.6 286 395

MSS 3.2 4.2 111 146

Pentana 3.5 4.5 553 709

EIBS 4.2 5.2 417 517

Gael 4.7 5.7 4,203 5,097

Covalent 6.3 7.3 1,318 1,529

Logen 6.3 7.3 111 129

IPI Solutions 6.6 7.6 1,809 2,083

Pleasetech 6.9 7.9 3,797 4,347

Medforce 7.9 8.9 2,920 3,187

InspectionXpert 8.3 9.3 2,237 2,428

Morgan Kai 8.4 9.4 8,319 9,308

Scannell Solutions 8.7 9.7 1,410 1,572

Redland 9.1 - 7,359 -

Optima 9.4 - 1,063 -

Workrite 9.8 - 3,327 -

39,357 31,694
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10 | INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

 Remaining amortisation period (years) Carrying amount (£’000)

Software 2020 2019 2020 2019

EIBS - 0.2 - 22

Gael - 0.7 - 990

Covalent 1.3 2.3 251 448

IPI Solutions 1.6 2.6 526 853

Pleasetech 1.9 2.9 1,328 2,024

Medforce 2.9 3.9 1,148 1,493

InspectionXpert 3.3 4.3 795 1,001

Morgan Kai 3.4 4.4 2,377 3,034

Scannell Solutions 3.7 4.7 488 620

Redland 4.1 - 2,570 -

Optima 4.4 - 450 -

Workrite 4.8 - 1,265 -

11,198 10,485

COMPANY

The intangible assets of the Company are as follows:

Software Development costs Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2018 121 489 610

Additions from internal development - - -

At 30 April 2019 121 489 610

Additions from internal development - - -

At 30 April 2020 121 489 610

Amortisation

At 1 May 2018 121 411 532

Amortisation expense - 52 52

At 30 April 2019 121 463 584

Amortisation expense - 26 26

At 30 April 2020 121 489 610

Net carrying amount

At 30 April 2020 - - -

At 30 April 2019 - 26 26
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11 | PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP

Fixtures and 
fittings

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements

Loan 
equipment

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2018 441 1,261 24 196 43 1,965

Additions 43 581 - 55 - 679

Acquisition through 
business combinations 
(note 21)

- 67 - - - 67

Disposals - - (16) - - (16)

Foreign currency exchange 
differences

1 (2) - - - (1)

At 30 April 2019 485 1,907 8 251 43 2,694

Additions 59 430 - 406 - 895

Acquisition through 
business combinations 
(note 21)

16 30 15 - - 61

Foreign currency exchange 
differences

(1) (1) - (7) - (9)

At 30 April 2020 559 2,366 23 650 43 3,641

Depreciation

At 1 May 2018 183 838 21 93 43 1,178

Depreciation expense 92 314 3 54 - 463

Disposals - - (16) - - (16)

At 30 April 2019 275 1,152 8 147 43 1,625

Depreciation expense 86 440 1 87 - 614

Foreign currency exchange 
differences

- (1) - (1) - (2)

At 30 April 2020 361 1,591 9 233 43 2,237

Net carrying amount

At 30 April 2020 198 775 14 417 - 1,404

At 30 April 2019 210 755 - 104 - 1,069
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11 | PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

COMPANY

Fixtures and 
fittings

Office 
equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 May 2018 30 179 113 322

Additions - 160 40 200

At 30 April 2019 30 339 153 522

Additions - 48 62 110

At 30 April 2020 30 387 215 632

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 May 2018 24 172 34 230

Depreciation expense 2 27 42 71

At 30 April 2019 26 199 76 301

Depreciation expense 1 46 49 96

At 30 April 2020 27 245 125 397

Net carrying amount

As at 30 April 2020 3 142 90 235

As at 30 April 2019 4 140 77 221

At 30 April 2020 the Group and the Company had capital commitments of £2,000,000.
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12 | LEASES – GROUP AS LESSEE 
The Group has a number of leased office premises. Under IFRS 16, a Lease liability and a Right of use asset have been recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of the leases set out below which represent the majority of the Group’s leased 
office premises.

Right of Use Assets

The Right of Use Assets in respect of these leased office premises were as follows.

Group Company

£’000 £’000

At 1 May 2019 2,403 1,168

Additions in respect of new leases 7,248 5,845

On acquisition of businesses (note 21) 195 -

Depreciation (1,045) (351)

Transfer of asset subject to sublease (note 13) (494) -

Foreign exchange movements 5 -

At 30 April 2020 8,312 6,662

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities in respect of these leased office premises were as follows.

Group Company

£’000 £’000

At 1 May 2019 2,327 1,113

Additions in respect of new leases 7,248 5,845

On acquisition of businesses (note 21) 191 -

Interest expense 53 15

Lease payments (1,073) (324)

Foreign exchange differences 18 -

At 30 April 2020 8,764 6,649
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12 | LEASES – GROUP AS LESSEE (CONTINUED)
The maturity of the lease liabilities as at 30 April 2020 is as follows.

Group Company

£’000 £’000

Less than one year 1,039 259

One to two years 1,290 562

Two to five years 1,976 1,416

Over five years 4,459 4,412

8,764 6,649

Analysed as:

Non-Current Liabilities 7,725 6,390

Current Liabilities 1,039 259

8,764 6,649

The following incremental borrowing rates were used in the calculation of these lease liabilities:

UK leases   1% 
US leases  2% 
Other overseas leases  2.75%

The Group’s lease arrangements do not include variable payments.

13 | LEASE RECEIVABLES 
During the year, the Group also sub-let some office premises in Chicago for a lease period of 5.8 years representing the remaining 
period of the lease. The Group has classified the sub lease as a finance lease. 

The following table sets out the maturity analysis of the lease receivable at 30 April 2020. 

£’000

Less than one year 89

One to two years 91

Two to three years 94

Three to four years 96

Four to five years 99

Over five years 50

Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 519

Unearned finance income (27)

Net investment in the lease 492
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13 | LEASE RECEIVABLES  (CONTINUED)
The timing of the recoverability of the net investment in the lease is as follows.

£’000

Recoverable after 12 months 412

Recoverable within 12 months 80

492

The timing of lease payments receivable at 30 April 2020 on an undiscounted basis is as follows.

£’000

Recoverable after more than 12 months 430

Recoverable within 12 months 89

519

A loss of £5,000 on the transfer of the Chicago office premises lease from a Right of Use Asset to a  lease receivable has been 
charged through the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year.  

Finance income of £4,000 on this sublease has been recognised in net finance costs (note 6).

14 | FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

COMPANY

Shares in subsidiaries 

Cost £’000

As at 1 May 2018 51,824

Additions in the year 25,880

Transfer of shares to other group companies (7,018)

Capital contributions to subsidiary companies 1,081

As at 30 April 2019 71,767

Additions in the year 26,871

Transfer of shares to other group companies (6,656)

Capital contributions to subsidiary companies 1,690

As at 30 April 2020 93,672

Net carrying amount

As at 30 April 2020 93,672 

As at 30 April 2019 71,767
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14 | FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 30 April 2020 the Company held 100% of the nominal value of all classes of the share capital of the companies set out below. 
All of these companies are incorporated in England & Wales with the exception of Ideagen Gael Limited and Gael Products 
Limited which are incorporated in Scotland, Ideagen Inc, Ideagen Software Inc, Medforce Technologies Inc, Covalent Software 
Inc, InspectionXpert Corp, Morgan Kai Group Inc and Ocean Cloud Software Inc which are incorporated in the United States of 
America, Ideagen EOOD which is incorporated in Bulgaria and Scannell Solutions Limited which is incorporated in the Republic 
of Ireland.

Name of subsidiary Nature of business Class of shares

Ideagen Gael Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary and ‘B’ 
Ordinary

Ideagen Software Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary and ‘B’ 
Ordinary

Pleasetech Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen EOOD Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen Software Inc. Non-trading holding company based in the USA Ordinary

Ideagen Inc. Sale of software licences, software maintenance and 
related professional services

Ordinary

Medforce Technologies Inc. Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen MK Group Limited UK-based holding company for the Morgan Kai 
companies

Ordinary and 
Cumulative Preference 
shares

Ideagen MK Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Morgan Kai Group Inc. Sale of software licences, software maintenance and 
related professional services

Ordinary

InspectionXpert Corp. Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary A and Ordinary 
B shares

Scannell Solutions Limited Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary, B Ordinary and 
Convertible Preference 
shares

Ideagen Redland Business Solutions 
Limited (formerly Redland Business 
Solutions Limited)

Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

A Ordinary and B Ordinary 
shares

Ideagen Optima Diagnostics Limited 
(formerly Optima Diagnostics 
Limited)

Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

Ocean Cloud Software Inc Sale of software licences, software maintenance and 
related professional services

Ordinary

Ideagen Workrite Limited (formerly 
Workrite Limited)

Development and sale of software licences, software 
maintenance and related professional services

Ordinary

IPI Solutions Limited Dormant Ordinary, A Ordinary 
and B Ordinary
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Name of subsidiary Nature of business Class of shares

Covalent Software Limited Dormant Ordinary, Ordinary ‘A’ 
and Ordinary non-
voting shares

Covalent Software Inc. Dormant Ordinary

Filebutton Limited Dormant ‘A’ Ordinary and ‘B’ 
Ordinary

Ideagen Solutions Limited Dormant Ordinary

Pentana Limited Dormant Ordinary

EIBS Limited Dormant Ordinary

MSS Management Systems Services 
Limited

Dormant Ordinary

Ideagen Capture Limited Dormant Ordinary

Proquis Limited Dormant Ordinary

Root3 Systems Limited Dormant Ordinary

Ideagen Systems Limited Dormant Ordinary

Gael Products Limited Dormant Ordinary

The registered office address of each of the above subsidiaries is Ergo House, Mere Way, Ruddington Fields Business Park, 
Nottinghamshire, NG11 6JS except for the following:

Ideagen Gael Limited, Gael Products Limited Orion House, Bramah Avenue, SE Technology Park, East Kilbride, G75 
0RD

Ideagen Inc. Suite 2000, 11710 Plaza America Drive, Reston, Virginia 20190, USA

Ideagen Software Inc. 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, USA

Medforce Technologies Inc. Suite 410, 2 Executive Boulevard, Suffern, NY10901, USA

Covalent Software Inc. 4505 Chimney Creek Drive, Sarasota, FL34235, USA

Ideagen EOOD Office 14, 140 GS Rakovski Street, 1000 Sofia, Bulgaria

InspectionXpert Corp. 1 Glenwood Avenue, 5th Floor WeWork, Raleigh, NC 27603, USA

Morgan Kai Group Inc. 191 N. Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois 60606, USA

Scannell Solutions Limited National Software Centre, Mahon, Cork, Republic of Ireland T12 R29P

Ocean Cloud Software Inc. 116 Pine Street, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17101, USA

14 | FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
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15 | TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Trade receivables 15,304 14,685

Prepayments and accrued income 3,137 2,862

18,441 17,547

Trade receivables includes £nil (2019: £385,000) which falls due for payment after more than one year.

Company 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Trade receivables 684 800

Prepayments and accrued income 912 595

Amounts receivable from subsidiaries 12,763 11,298

14,359 12,693

The majority of sales invoices are due for payment 30 days after the date of the invoice however, in a small number of cases 
the due date for payment is extended by specific agreement with the customer. Where customers delay making payment, an 
assessment of the potential loss of customer goodwill arising from the enforcement of contractual payment terms may take 
place when considering actions to be taken to secure payment.

Amounts receivable from subsidiaries are payable on demand and do not bear any interest.

The carrying value of trade receivables approximates to their fair values.

An analysis of trade receivables ageing based on due date together with an allowance for expected credit losses is set out 
below.

Group 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Not yet due 7,860 7,003

1 – 30 days overdue 1,811 3,125

30 – 60 days overdue 1,690 1,647

>60 days overdue 5,258 4,327

16,619 16,102

Allowance for expected credit losses (1,315) (1,417)

15,304 14,685
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15 | TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Company 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Not yet due 365 375

1 – 30 days overdue 77 257

30 – 60 days overdue 35 61

>60 days overdue 343 232

820 925

Allowance for expected credit losses (136) (125)

684 800

The credit loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

The expected rate of credit loss in respect of all debts except those more than 60 days overdue at 30 April 2020 is 0.5% (2019: 
0.5%) of the gross balances and amounted to £57,000 (2019: £59,000) in the Group and £2,000 (2019: £3,000) in the Company.

The expected rate of credit loss for all debts more than 60 days overdue at 30 April 2020 in the Group was 24% (2019: 31%) and 
in the Company was 39% (2019: 53%) of the gross balances. This amounted to £1,258,000 (2019: £1,358,000) in the Group and 
£134,000 (2019: £122,000) in the Company.

Trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for expected credit losses, movements on which are set out below.

Group 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 1,417 831

On acquisition of businesses 60 209

Impairment losses recognised - exceptional 1,989 -

Impairment losses recognised - other 281 553

Amounts utilised (2,453) (176)

Foreign currency exchange differences 21 -

Balance at the end of the year 1,315 1,417
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15 | TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Company 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 125 70

Impairment losses recognised 16 121

Amounts utilised (5) (66)

Balance at the end of the year 136 125

As set out in note 9, there has been an exceptional non-recurring impairment of receivables of £1,989,000 this year. Due to 
COVID-19 related uncertainties, the directors have re-assessed the recoverability of certain trade receivables and those with 
customers operating in markets such as aviation and other impacted industrial sectors. It was concluded that specific balances 
in respect of three customers, which had originally been recognised in previous periods, had an increased risk of recoverability 
and would therefore not be pursued and were written off. Additional expected credit losses were also recognised for customers 
in markets expected to be impacted. This has been excluded in the calculation of adjusted earnings and EBITDA as it is not 
expected to reoccur.

16 | TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Trade payables 2,337 2,181

Other taxes and social security 2,481 1,636

Accruals 2,123 2,226

6,941 6,043

Company 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Trade payables 338 689

Other taxes and social security 601 525

Amounts payable to subsidiaries 12,668 9,685

Accruals 744 978

14,351 11,877

The carrying value of trade payables approximates to their fair values. Amounts payable to subsidiaries are payable on demand 
and do not bear any interest.
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17 | CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION ON BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Group 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Contingent consideration on the acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp - 769

Part of the consideration for the acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp in September 2018 was contingent on the achievement of 
certain revenue targets in the year following acquisition. The directors assessed the fair value of the contingent consideration 
payable under this arrangement at £769,000. This amount was paid during the year ended 30 April 2020.

18 | BORROWINGS
In June 2019, the Group increased its 3-year revolving credit facility with National Westminster Bank plc from £16 million to 
£25million and this was subsequently further increased to £40 million on a 3-year term in March 2020. The facility has an interest 
rate of 3-month LIBOR plus an interest margin of between 1.5% and 2% (depending upon the group’s net debt position) on 
borrowed funds and a rate of 40% of the interest margin on unutilised funds within the facility. In September 2020, a further 
£10 million extension of this facility was agreed to provide further headroom and taking the total facility to £50 million. This £10 
million extension is in place until 30 September 2021 after which the facility reverts back to £40 million until March 2023. Security 
for borrowings under the facility is provided by way of a debenture over the assets of the Company and the majority of its 
subsidiaries. 

Group 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 7,500 4,750

New borrowings 21,250 6,000

Loan acquired on acquisition of Workrite Ltd (note 21) 257 -

Amounts repaid (4,007) (3,250)

25,000 7,500

The £257,000 loan acquired with Workrite Ltd was repaid immediately after the completion of the acquisition.

Company 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Balance at the start of the year 7,500 4,750

New borrowings 21,250 6,000

Amounts repaid (3,750) (3,250)

25,000 7,500

The carrying value of Borrowings approximates to their fair value. 

All of the group’s borrowings are in respect of a flexible revolving credit facility which currently has a 3-year term ending in 
March 2023 and accordingly it is not considered to be meaningful to include a maturity analysis of borrowings. All of the group’s 
borrowings on the revolving credit facility have been included within Current Liabilities.
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19 | DEFERRED CONSIDERATION ON BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Group 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp. - 769

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Scannell Solutions Limited - 500

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited 500 -

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Workrite Limited 25 -

525 1,269

Company 2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Scannell Solutions Limited - 500

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited 500 -

Deferred consideration on the acquisition of Workrite Limited 25 -

525 500

No interest is payable on these deferred consideration balances and they are not subject to any performance criteria. The 
deferred consideration on the acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp and Scannell Solutions Limited was paid during the year 
ended 30 April 2020. The deferred consideration amounts on the acquisitions of Workrite Limited and Redland Business Solutions 
Limited were payable in May 2020 and June 2020 respectively and have both subsequently been paid since the year end.

20 | FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification and measurement

Group 2020 2019

Financial assets £’000 £’000

At amortised cost:

Trade receivables 15,304 14,685

Lease receivables 80 -

Cash 8,216 6,199

Total current 23,600 20,884

Lease receivables – non-current 412 -

24,102 20,884

At fair value through profit or loss:

Derivatives: Forward foreign exchange contracts 92 -
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20 | FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Classification and measurement

Group 2020 2019

Financial liabilities £’000 £’000

At amortised cost:

Trade payables 2,337 2,181

Accruals 2,123 2,226

Lease liabilities 1,039 -

Borrowings 25,000 7,500

Deferred consideration 525 1,269

Total current 31,024 13,176

Lease liabilities – non current 7,725 -

38,749 13,176

At fair value through profit and loss:

Forward foreign exchange contracts 116 -

Company 2020 2019

Financial assets £’000 £’000

At amortised cost:

Trade receivables 684 800

Cash 1,697 1,438

2,381 2,238

At fair value through profit or loss: 
Derivatives: Forward foreign exchange contracts

92 -

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost:

Trade payables 338 689

Accruals 744 978

Lease liabilities 259 -

Borrowings 25,000 7,500

Deferred consideration 525 1,269

Total current 26,866 10,436

Lease liabilities – non current 6,390 -

33,256 10,436

 The derivative assets and liabilities included above are not included in hedge accounting relationships.
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21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

ACQUISITION OF REDLAND BUSINESS SOLUTIONS LIMITED 

On 7 June 2019, the Group acquired 100% of all classes of the issued ordinary share capital of Redland Business Solutions Limited, 
a company incorporated in England, for total consideration of £18,039,000. The acquisition is expected to enhance the Group’s 
presence in the financial services market and the combination of Redland’s Insight platform with Ideagen’s Pentana product is 
expected to provide a compelling proposition covering internal audit, risk management, certification and SMCR compliance. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 8,083

Software intangible 3,131

Property, plant and equipment 35

Deferred income tax assets 743

Right of use asset 148

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 226

Corporation tax recoverable 127

Cash and cash equivalents 1,746

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (429)

Deferred revenue (1,402)

Lease liability (49)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (2,131)

Lease liability (95)

Net identifiable assets acquired 10,133

The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows:

        £’000

Cash paid at completion 17,539

Deferred consideration 500

18,039

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:

        £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 18,039

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (10,133)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 7,906

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively 
included amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits 
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible 
assets. None of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
The costs of the acquisition of £204,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2020. The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 
includes revenue of £4,120,000 and profit after taxation, excluding amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £666,000 
in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though 
the acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited had been completed on 1 May 2019 is impracticable as the accounting 
reference date of this company was previously 31 March and it did not prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a 
monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Redland Business Solutions Limited:

        £’000

Consideration paid in cash 17,539

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (1,746)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 15,793

ACQUISITION OF OPTIMA DIAGNOSTICS LIMITED  

On 10 October 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Optima Diagnostics Limited, a company 
incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom, together with its 100% owned subsidiary, Ocean Cloud Software Inc., a 
company incorporated and domiciled in the United States, for total consideration of £2,176,000. The acquisition is expected to 
enhance the Group’s Quality, Health, Safety and Environmental (“QHSE”) offering. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 1,126

Software intangible 506

Property, plant and equipment 4

Right of use asset 47

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 51

Cash and cash equivalents 372

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (180)

Corporation tax (4)

Deferred revenue (321)

Lease liability (26)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (310)

Lease liability (21)

Net identifiable assets acquired 1,244
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The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows:

        £’000

Cash paid at completion 2,176

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:

        £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 2,176

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (1,244)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 932

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively 
included amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits 
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible 
assets. None of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The costs of the acquisition of £76,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2020. The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 
includes revenue of £726,000 and profit after taxation, excluding amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £271,000 in 
respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the 
acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited had been completed on 1 May 2019 is impracticable as the accounting reference date 
of this company was previously 31 December and it did not prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly 
basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Optima Diagnostics Limited:

        £’000

Consideration paid in cash 2,176

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (372)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 1,804

21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

ACQUISITION OF WORKRITE LIMITED 

On 4 March 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Workrite Limited, a company incorporated in 
England, for total consideration of £6,656,000. The acquisition will become a key component of the Ideagen cloud proposition 
providing a content rich, scalable e-learning solution supporting the Group’s strategy as a consolidator within the Global QHSE 
market.

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

£’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 3,383

Software intangible 1,309

Property, plant and equipment 22

Deferred income tax assets 98

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 148

Cash and cash equivalents 137

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (79)

Borrowings (257)

Deferred revenue (733)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (871)

Net identifiable assets acquired 3,157

The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows:

        £’000

Cash paid at completion 6,631

Deferred consideration 25

6,656

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:

        £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 6,656

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (3,157)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 3,499

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Workrite Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts 
in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits are not recognised 
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible assets. None of this 
goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
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21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
The costs of the acquisition of £122,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2020. The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2020 
includes revenue of £720,000 and profit after taxation, excluding amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £517,000 
in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though 
the acquisition of Workrite Limited had been completed on 1 May 2019 is impracticable as the results of this business were not 
previously separately reported under its previous ownership. 

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Workrite Limited:

        £’000

Consideration paid in cash 6,631

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (137)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 6,494

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS COMPLETED DURING THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2019

Acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp.

On 4 September 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of InspectionXpert Corp., a company 
incorporated and domiciled in the United States of America, for total consideration of $7,000,000 (£5,405,000). The acquisition 
enhances the Group’s existing business by consolidating its position in the Quality Inspection market, expanding the Group’s US 
presence and bringing strong recurring revenues.

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

$’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 3,377 2,608

Software intangible 1,497 1,156

Property, plant and equipment 3 2

Deferred income tax assets 340 262

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 275 212

Cash and cash equivalents 72 55

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (159) (123)

Deferred revenue (1,446) (1,116)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (1,146) (884)

Net identifiable assets acquired 2,813 2,172
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The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows:

        $’000         £’000

Cash paid at completion 5,000 3,861

Deferred consideration 1,000 772

Contingent consideration 1,000 772

7,000 5,405

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:

        $’000         £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 7,000 5,405

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (2,813) (2,172)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 4,187 3,233

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp. as the consideration paid for the combination effectively included 
amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits are not 
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible assets. None 
of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The costs of the acquisition of £268,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2019. The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2019 
includes revenue of £2,731,000 and profit after taxation, excluding amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £956,000 
in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the 
acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp. had been completed on 1 May 2018 is impracticable as the accounting reference date of 
this company was previously 31 December and it did not prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of InspectionXpert Corp:         £’000

Consideration paid in cash 3,861

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (55)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 3,806

21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
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21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED) 

Acquisition of Morgan Kai Group Limited

On 27 September 2018, the Company acquired 100% of all classes of the issued ordinary and preference share capital of Morgan 
Kai Group Limited, a company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom, together with its 100% owned subsidiaries, 
Morgan Kai Limited, a company incorporated in England, and Morgan Kai Group Inc., a company incorporated and domiciled in 
the United States, for total consideration of £22,398,000. The acquisition doubles the size of the Group’s Audit business thereby 
strengthening our competitive position, enhances our technology and capabilities and brings strong recurring revenues.

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

        £’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 9,891

Software intangible 3,440

Property, plant and equipment 55

Deferred income tax assets 30

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 485

Cash and cash equivalents 1,918

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (797)

Corporation tax (67)

Deferred revenue (2,059)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (2,309)

Net identifiable assets acquired 10,587

The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows:

        £’000

Cash paid at completion 22,398

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:

 £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 22,398

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (10,587)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 11,811

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Morgan Kai Group Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively included 
amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits are not 
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible assets. None 
of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
The costs of the acquisition of £784,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2019. The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2019 
includes revenue of £2,992,000 and profit after taxation, excluding amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £1,129,000 
in respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the 
acquisition of Morgan Kai Group Limited had been completed on 1 May 2018 is impracticable as the accounting reference date of 
this company was previously 31 December and it did not prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Morgan Kai Group Limited:

        £’000

Consideration paid in cash 22,398

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (1,918)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 20,480

Acquisition of Scannell Solutions Limited

On 11 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% of all classes of the issued ordinary and preference share capital of Scannell 
Solutions Limited, a company incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Ireland, for total consideration of £3,481,000. The 
acquisition enhances the Group’s product roadmap providing technology and content to accelerate the Group’s EHSQ strategy.

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are summarised in the table 
below.

        €’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Customer relationships intangible 1,775 1,621

Software intangible 722 659

Property, plant and equipment 11 10

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 93 85

Corporation tax 37 34

Cash and cash equivalents 16 15

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (136) (125)

Deferred revenue (392) (358)

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities (312) (285)

Net identifiable assets acquired 1,814 1,656
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21 | BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the consideration at the date of acquisition is as follows:

€’000           £’000

Cash paid at completion 3,244 2,981

Deferred consideration 547 500

3,791 3,481

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is as follows:

€’000  £’000

Fair value of consideration at date of acquisition 3,791 3,481

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (1,814) (1,656)

Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,977 1,825

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Scannell Solutions Limited as the consideration paid for the combination effectively included 
amounts in relation to the benefit of revenue growth, expected synergies and the assembled workforce. These benefits are not 
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the criteria for recognition as identifiable intangible assets. None 
of this goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The costs of the acquisition of £206,000 have been expensed within a separate line in the Group Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 April 2019. The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 April 2019 
includes revenue of £315,000 and profit after taxation, excluding amortisation of relevant acquisition intangibles, of £105,000 in 
respect of the business acquired. Disclosure of information on revenue and profit or loss for the combined entity as though the 
acquisition of Scannell Solutions Limited had been completed on 1 May 2018 is impracticable as the accounting reference date 
of this company was previously 31 March and it did not prepare comparable revenue and profit information on a monthly basis.

Net cash outflow on acquisition Scannell Solutions:

        £’000

Consideration paid in cash 2,981

Less: cash acquired in subsidiary (15)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 2,966
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22 | EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND OTHER RESERVES

GROUP AND COMPANY 

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Issued and fully paid share capital:

226,583,386 ordinary shares of £0.01 each (2019: 219,784,656 shares) 2,266 2,198

Share premium account 55,364 53,948

2020 2019

Number Number

Number of shares in issue at beginning of the year 219,784,656 202,657,783

Issued on exercise of share options 6,427,167 2,684,333

Issued under the share incentive scheme 371,563 358,033

Issued on share placing at 142 pence - 14,084,507

Number of shares in issue at end of the year 226,583,386 219,784,656 

The total share issue costs during the year ended 30 April 2020 of £nil (2019: £625,000) have been deducted from the share 
premium account.

Ordinary shares issued during the year ended 30 April 2020 on the exercise of share options were as follows:

Date shares issued Number of shares issued Issue price (pence) Share premium account 
(£)

23 August 2019 10,000 35.00 3,400

16 September 2019 1,000,000 22.38 213,800

30 September 2019 225,000 35.00 76,500

4 October 2019 10,000 35.00 3,400

17 October 2019 1,333,333 9.00 106,667

17 October 2019 500,000 22.38 106,900

17 October 2019 380,000 37.63 139,194

20 November 2019 800,000 9.00 64,000

20 November 2019 1,795,000 22.38 383,771

29 November 2019 83,000 112.00 92,130

27 January 2020 50,000 50.00 24,500

27 January 2020 25,000 112.00 27,750

7 April 2020 7,500 35.00 2,550

27 April 2020 125,000 35.00 42,500

27 April 2020 83,334 50.00 40,834
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22 | EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND OTHER RESERVES 
(CONTINUED)
Ordinary shares issued during the year ended 30 April 2019 on the exercise of share options were as follows:

Date shares issued Number of shares issued Issue price (pence) Share premium account 
(£)

8 May 2018 39,000 37.63 14,286

15 May 2018 51,667 35.00 17,567

11 June 2018 10,000 37.63 3,663

18 June 2018 65,000 37.63 23,810

3 September 2018 107,000 35.00 36,380

21 September 2018 65,000 45.50 28,925

3 October 2018 25,000 35.00 8,500

4 October 2018 1,800,000 1.00 -

29 January 2019 166,666 50.00 81,666

22 February 2019 325,000 45.50 144,625

22 February 2019 20,000 37.63 7,326

22 February 2019 10,000 35.00 3,400

Details of outstanding options over the shares of the Company are provided in note 24.

MERGER RESERVE

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Group 1,658 1,658

Company 1,709 1,709

The merger reserve is in respect of the premium arising on shares issued as part of the consideration provided on business 
combinations.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings of both the Group and the Company include an amount of £1,336,000 (2018: £1,336,000) which does not 
represent a realised profit and is not distributable.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve relates to the translation of subsidiaries assets and liabilities and also the group 
investment in Ideagen Software Inc. 

23 | DIVIDENDS
A final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2019 of 0.188 pence per ordinary share (in respect of the year ended 30 April 
2018: 0.163 pence) was paid to shareholders on 26 November 2019. The total cost of this dividend was £420,345 (in respect of the 
year ended 30 April 2018: £357,000).

An interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2020 of 0.104 pence per ordinary share (2019: 0.09 pence) was paid to 
shareholders on 18 March 2020. The total cost of this dividend was £235,408 (2019: £197,798).

The directors have proposed the payment of a final dividend of 0.216 pence per ordinary share (2019: 0.188 pence) on 25 November 
2020 subject to approval by shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
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24 | SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS, SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE INCENTIVE 
SCHEME
At 30 April 2020 share options granted to directors and employees remain unexercised under four different arrangements. In 
addition, the Company has issued shares under a Share Incentive Scheme into a separate trust, which is managed by an external 
trustee, for the benefit of employees.

The share option arrangements are an Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme, the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the 2017 Long 
Term Incentive Plan, the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan and the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension. All options granted 
under the 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan had been exercised at 30 April 2019.

Ideagen Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme

The Company has an Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme which permitted the grant to directors and staff of share options 
in respect of ordinary shares in the Company. Since September 2015, no further options can be granted under this scheme. 
Some of the options granted under this scheme do not have the tax benefits normally associated with Enterprise Management 
Incentive options however these options are identical in all other respects. 

The Scheme is an equity-settled arrangement and options granted under the scheme have a maximum life of 10 years from the 
date of grant. Options are capable of being exercised in stages. One third can be exercised one year after grant date, a further 
third can be exercised two years after grant date and all options are capable of being exercised three years from the grant date. 
All options can be exercised in the event of a takeover of the Company. There are no other vesting conditions except to note that 
the options will lapse on leaving employment with the Group.

The following is a summary of the movements in outstanding share options under the Ideagen Enterprise Management Incentive 
Scheme.

Year ended 30 April 2020

Number of options Weighted average 
exercise price (pence)

Outstanding at 1 May 2019 6,578,333 20.6

Exercised during the year (6,185,833) 19.5

Outstanding at 30 April 2020 392,500 38.6

Exercisable as at 30 April 2020 392,500 38.6

Of the options outstanding at 30 April 2020, nil (2019: 2,133,333) options have an exercise price of 9 pence, nil (2019: 3,295,000) 
options have an exercise price of 22.38 pence, 257,500 (2019: 635,000) options have an exercise price of 35 pence, nil (2019: 380,000) 
options have an exercise price of 37.63 pence and 135,000 (2019: 135,000) options have an exercise price of 45.5 pence.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 30 April 2020 was 5.2 years (2019: 3.8 years).
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24 | SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
The fair values of the options exercised during the year at the date they were granted and the price of Ideagen plc ordinary shares 
on the date of exercise were as follows.

Number of options 
exercised Exercise price (pence) Ideagen plc share price on 

date of exercise (pence)
Fair value per option at 
date of grant (pence)

10,000 35.00 145.50 10.16

1,333,333 9.00 147.00 4.60

500,000 22.38 147.00 11.80

1,000,000 22.38 148.00 11.80

380,000 37.63 147.00 13.69

225,000 35.00 146.00 10.16

10,000 35.00 148.00 10.16

800,000 9.00 150.00 4.60

1,795,000 22.38 150.00 11.80

7,500 35.00 175.20 10.16

125,000 35.00 170.55 10.16

6,185,833

Year ended 30 April 2019

Number of options Weighted average 
exercise price (pence)

Outstanding at 1 May 2018 7,296,000 22.6

Exercised during the year (717,667) 41.2

Outstanding at 30 April 2019 6,578,333 20.6

Exercisable as at 30 April 2019 6,578,333 20.6

Of the options outstanding at 30 April 2019, 2,133,333 (2018: 2,133,333) options have an exercise price of 9 pence, 3,295,000 (2018: 
3,295,000) options have an exercise price of 22.38 pence, 635,000 (2018: 828,667) options have an exercise price of 35 pence, 
380,000 (2018: 514,000) options have an exercise price of 37.63 pence and 135,000 (2018: 525,000) options have an exercise price 
of 45.5 pence.
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24 | SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
The fair values of the options exercised during the year at the date they were granted and the price of Ideagen plc ordinary 
shares on the date of exercise were as follows.

Number of options 
exercised Exercise price (pence) Ideagen plc share price on 

date of exercise (pence)
Fair value per option at 
date of grant (pence)

39,000 37.63 115.00 13.69

41,667 35.00 122.13 10.16

10,000 35.00 120.00 10.16

75,000 37.63 130.00 13.69

107,000 35.00 154.00 10.16

65,000 45.50 172.00 13.20

25,000 35.00 161.50 10.16

325,000 45.50 127.00 13.20

20,000 37.63 127.00 13.69

10,000 35.00 127.00 10.16

717,667

Ideagen 2016 Share Option Scheme

This scheme was introduced in the year ended 30 April 2017 to replace the Enterprise Management Incentive Scheme as no 
further option awards can be made under that scheme.

The Scheme is an equity-settled arrangement and options granted under the scheme have a maximum life of 10 years from the 
date of grant. Options are normally capable of being exercised in stages unless otherwise agreed by the Board. One third can 
be exercised one year after grant date, a further third can be exercised two years after grant date and all options are capable 
of being exercised three years from the grant date. All options can be exercised in the event of a takeover of the Company. There 
are no other vesting conditions except to note that the options will lapse on leaving employment with the Group if they have not 
been exercised.

The following is a summary of the movements in outstanding share options under the Ideagen 2016 Share Option Scheme.

Number of options Weighted average 
exercise price (pence)

Outstanding at 1 May 2018 600,000 50.0

Granted during the year 550,000 112.0

Exercised during the year (166,666) 50.0

Outstanding at 30 April 2019 983,334 84.7

Granted during the year 500,000 141.0

Exercised during the year (241,334) 77.7

Outstanding at 30 April 2020 1,242,000 108.7

Exercisable as at 30 April 2020 275,331 67.0

Exercisable as at 30 April 2019 133,332 50.0

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020



Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

115 114 

Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

24 | SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
During the year ended 30 April 2020, tranches of 83,334, 83,000 and 75,000 options were exercised when the Ideagen plc share 
price was 170.55 pence, 180 pence and 190.5 pence. During the year ended 30 April 2019, 166,666 options were exercised when the 
Ideagen plc share price was 140 pence. 

During the year, 500,000 (2019: 550,000) options were granted under this scheme with an exercise price of 141 pence (2019: 112 
pence) each. The fair values of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. The key inputs to the option pricing model in respect of any options which remained outstanding at 30 April 2020 are 
summarised below.

Year ended 30 April 2020 30 April 2019 30 April 2018

Number of options granted in 
the year

500,000 550,000 300,000

Date of grant 7 May 2019 3 May 2018 2 May 2017

Share price at grant date 141 pence 112 pence 88.5 pence

Exercise price 141 pence 112 pence 50 pence

Expected volatility 33% 33% 33%

Expected dividend yield 0.18% 0.20% 0.21%

Expected option life 5 years 5 years 5 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.95% 1.11% 0.51%

Fair value of option 42.90 pence 33.73 pence 44.46 pence

Future share price volatility was estimated by using historic share price volatility over the most recent period commensurate with 
the expected life of the option.

The average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at 30 April 2020 was 8.2 years (2019: 8.5 years).

Ideagen 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan

On 22 October 2018, the Company introduced the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan and 1,200,000 share options were granted 
under the plan at an exercise price of 1 penny to Ben Dorks, Chief Executive Officer.

600,000 of these options were eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 196 pence over 30 consecutive business 
days with the remainder becoming eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 259 pence over 30 consecutive 
business days.

Any shares issued in respect of the exercise of any of these options cannot be sold until the fourth anniversary of the grant date, 
except to cover the taxation charges arising on exercise, and are subject to continued service throughout. All options will lapse 
if the eligibility criteria are not satisfied or the options are not exercised within 5 years of the date of grant of the options. In the 
event of a takeover of the Company, different rules would apply and all of these options may become exercisable at that point. 
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24 | SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
The fair value of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a trinomial option pricing model. The inputs to 
the option pricing model are summarised in the following table.    

98 pence share price 
exercise condition

136 pence share price 
exercise condition

Number of options granted on 22 October 2018 600,000 600,000

Share price at grant date 156.5 pence 156.5 pence

Exercise price 1 penny 1 penny

Share price condition (barrier) 196 pence 259 pence

Expected volatility 32% 32%

Expected dividend yield 0.15% 0.15%

Expected option life 3 years 3 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.66% 0.66%

Fair value of option 118.6 pence 72.4 pence

Future share price volatility was estimated by using historic share price volatility over the most recent period commensurate with 
the expected life of the option.

No further options were granted under the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan during the year ended 30 April 2020.

At 30 April 2020, none of the options had been exercised and none were exercisable.

Ideagen 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension

On 28 March 2019, the Company introduced the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension and 2,500,000 share options were 
granted under the plan at an exercise price of 1 penny to certain directors and senior managers.

1,250,000 of these options were eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 196 pence over 30 consecutive business 
days with the remainder becoming eligible to vest on the Company’s share price reaching 259 pence over 30 consecutive 
business days.

Any shares issued in respect of the exercise of any of these options cannot be sold until the fourth anniversary of the grant date, 
except to cover the taxation charges arising on exercise, and are subject to continued service throughout. All options will lapse 
if the eligibility criteria are not satisfied or the options are not exercised within 5 years of the date of grant of the options. In the 
event of a takeover of the Company, different rules would apply and all of these options may become exercisable at that point. 

The fair value of the options granted were estimated at the date of grant using a trinomial option pricing model. The inputs to 
the option pricing model are summarised below.

196 pence share price 
exercise condition

259 pence share price 
exercise condition

Number of options granted on 28 March 2019 1,250,000 1,250,000

Share price at grant date 146.5 pence 146.5 pence

Exercise price 1 penny 1 penny

Share price condition (barrier) 196 pence 259 pence

Expected volatility 32% 32%

Expected dividend yield 0.17% 0.17%

Expected option life 3 years 3 years

Risk-free interest rate 0.66% 0.66%

Fair value of option 100.6 pence 58.9 pence
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24 | SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)
Future share price volatility was estimated by using historic share price volatility over the most recent period commensurate with 
the expected life of the option.

No further options were granted under the 2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension during the year ended 30 April 2020.

At 30 April 2020, none of the options had been exercised and none were exercisable.

Share Incentive Scheme

All employees are eligible to join the Company’s Share Incentive Scheme once they have been employed by the Group for six 
months. Subject to the Group achieving certain profit targets, “Free Shares” are awarded to all eligible employees. During the 
year ended 30 April 2020, up to £2,000 worth of Free Shares were awarded to eligible employees when the Ideagen share price 
was 149.0 pence (2019: 166.5 pence). There are no vesting conditions attached to the Free Shares other than being continuously 
employed by the Group for 3 years from the date of award. If an employee leaves the Group within the 3-year period, in certain 
cases the shares will vest and in other cases they will be forfeited. In addition, employees are able to purchase “Partnership 
Shares” at prevailing market rates out of their pre-tax income, subject to an annual HMRC limit of £1,800. No share-based 
payment charge arises in respect of the Partnership Shares. All Free Shares and Partnership Shares are held in a trust which is 
managed by an external trustee. On leaving employment with the Group the employee must take all of their shares out of the 
trust.

Details of the movements of Free Shares in the Share Incentive Scheme were as follows:

Number of Free Shares

Outstanding at 1 May 2019 713,933

Granted during the year 371,764

Vested during the year (146,899)

Forfeited during the year (25,397)

Outstanding at 30 April 2020 913,401

Exercisable as at 30 April 2020 -
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24 | SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS AND SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

Effect of share options and the Share Incentive Scheme on the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income and Equity 
reserves

The total share-based payment charge in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income was as follows:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Enterprise Management Incentive Share Option Scheme - 3

2016 Share Option Scheme 199 159

2017 Long Term Incentive Plan Share Option Scheme - 381

2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Share Option Scheme 383 199

2018 Long Term Incentive Plan Extension Share Option Scheme 666 60

1,248 802

Share Incentive Scheme 442 279

National insurance costs on exercise of share options 20 410

1,710 1,491

With the exception of the national insurance costs, these charges have been credited to a share-based payment reserve within 
equity. The balance on this reserve at 30 April 2020 amounted to £2,370,000 (2019: £1,440,000).

The total fair value at the date the share options were granted of the options exercised during the year ended 30 April 2020 
was £636,000 (2019: £722,000). This was transferred from the share-based payment reserve to retained earnings during the year. 
In addition, a further £121,000 (2019: £64,000) was transferred from the share-based payment reserve to retained earnings in 
respect of shares which had vested under the rules of the Share Incentive Scheme.

25 | CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk and capital management
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 
continue to provide a return to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The capital monitored by the Group consists of all components of equity attributable to owners of the parent as set out in the 
Group Statement of Changes in Equity other than the foreign currency translation reserve, any long or short term borrowings, 
contingent and deferred liabilities arising from business combinations disclosed in Notes 17 and 19 and cash and cash equivalents.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements other than the minimum capital requirements imposed by 
the Companies Act 2006 on all public limited companies.

Management actively review the cash flow position of the Group both in the short and medium term and maintain a level of cash 
and debt finance facilities designed to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds for its operations and its strategic requirements.

The Group currently maintains a capital and debt structure which is appropriate for its needs principally through a combination of 
cash flow management and forecasting, the issue of new shares, primarily in connection with the funding of business acquisitions 
and through debt funding. At 30 April 2020, the Group had a revolving credit facility with National Westminster Bank plc of up to 
£40 million and had drawn borrowings of £25 million from this facility as set out in note 18.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2020



Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

119 118 

Ideagen | ANNUAL REPORT 2020

25 | CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Foreign currency exchange risk
The greater part of the Group’s revenues and costs are denominated in sterling, however the Group is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk, principally through profits and cash inflows generated in US dollars by the Group’s US subsidiaries and through 
invoicing a proportion of overseas customers in foreign currencies, most notably US dollars and euros. 

The foreign currency exchange risk is partly addressed by maximising costs denominated in US dollars and partly through the use 
of forward contracts as appropriate to reduce this risk.

At 30 April 2020, Group trade receivables included the following amounts designated in currencies other than the functional 
currency: US$7,215,000, 1,502,000 euros and AED 2,288,000. Amounts designated in other currencies were not material.

At 30 April 2020, Group trade payables included the following amount designated in a currency other than the functional 
currency: US$1,083,000. Amounts designated in other currencies were not material.

At 30 April 2020, Group cash balances included the following amounts designated in currencies other than the functional 
currency: US$4,895,000 and 835,000 euros. Amounts held in other currencies were not material.

Credit risk
Credit risk is primarily in respect of trade receivables and is managed on a Group basis. Management assesses the credit quality 
of the customer, taking into account past experience, its financial position and other factors. The Group regularly monitors its 
exposure to bad debts in order to minimise exposure. Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is minimised by placing funds with 
banks with good credit ratings.

Information on expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables is provided in note 15. To provide an indication of the 
sensitivity of the expected credit loss provision rates used as set out in note 15, a 10% increase in the expected credit loss rate 
applied to trade receivables more than 60 days overdue would reduce group operating profits by approximately £525,000.

Interest rate risk
The Group has exposure to changes in market interest rates in respect of borrowings on its Revolving Credit Facility. Interest 
payable under this facility is currently at a variable rate linked to LIBOR such that any increases in general interest rates would 
increase future interest charges and cash out flows. The Group does not currently use any interest rate hedging instruments to 
minimise its exposure. Management does not currently have a formal policy in respect of how much of the Group’s exposure 
should be at variable or fixed rates however this is an area which is expected to be considered further in the medium term.

26 | SHORT TERM LEASE COMMITMENTS
As at 30 April 2020 the Group had the following aggregate commitments under non-cancellable short term leases in respect of 
land and buildings:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Within one year 50 729

Between two and five years - 1,619

After more than five years - 165

50 2,513

27 | PENSION SCHEMES
The Group operated a defined contribution pension scheme for employees during the year. The pension cost charge represents 
contributions payable by the Group into the scheme and amounted to £814,000 (2019: £627,000). At 30 April 2020, trade and 
other payables included £115,000 (2019: £87,000) payable to the Group pension scheme.
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28 | NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (EXCLUDING LEASE LIABILITIES)
The movements in net debt (excluding lease liabilities) during the year were as follows:

Group Cash & Cash 
equivalents

Borrowings Net cash/ 
(debt)

£’000           £’000            £’000

At 1 May 2019 6,199 (7,500) (1,301)

Cash flow 1,984 (17,500) (15,516)

Non-cash movement 33 - 33

At 30 April 2020 8,216 (25,000) (1,301)

Company Cash & Cash 
equivalents

Borrowings Net cash/ 
(debt)

               £’000            £’000            £’000

At 1 May 2019               1,438 (7,500) (6,062)

Cash flow 259 (17,500) (17,241)

At 30 April 2020                 1,697 (25,000) (23,303)

29 | RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Ideagen plc is the parent company of the Group. There was no overall control of Ideagen plc.

Balances between the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, are disclosed in 
notes 15 and 16. During the year, the Company recharged £2,767,000 (2019: £1,529,000) of costs to its wholly owned subsidiaries 
and suffered recharges of £1,980,000 (2019: £2,251,000) from its wholly owned subsidiaries. Details of transactions between the 
Company and other related parties are disclosed below.

At 30 April 2020, trade and other payables in the Company included £3,000 (2019: £6,457) payable to Ultris Limited, a company 
in which Mr Alan Carroll is a director and major shareholder. This amount is in respect of fees and expenses payable to Mr Alan 
Carroll as a director of the Company. Amounts charged by Tony Rodriguez for his services as a director of the company are 
payable to X88 Limited, a company in which Mr Rodriguez is a director and major shareholder. At 30 April 2020, trade and other 
payables included £2,500 (2019: £2,777) payable to X88 Limited for these services. The amounts payable to Ultris Limited and X88 
Limited for the services of Mr Carroll and Mr Rodriguez respectively as directors of the Company are as per the remuneration of 
directors disclosed in the Remuneration Committee report.

Bonuses accrued by directors in prior years and included in the disclosure of the remuneration of directors but not yet paid at 30 
April 2020 were as follows: David Hornsby £230,000 (2019: £410,000); Ben Dorks £130,000 (2019: £130,000); Graeme Spenceley 
£30,000 (2019: £30,000); Barnaby Kent £15,000 (2019: £55,000).

Total dividends paid to the directors of the Company during the year were as follows: David Hornsby £29,856 (2019: £21,885), Ben 
Dorks £6,867 (2018: £5,061), Graeme Spenceley £3,884 (2019: £2,095), Barnaby Kent £7,519 (2019: £5,764), Alan Carroll £596 (2019: 
£516) and Jonathan Wearing £7,875 (2019: £10,598). Tony Rodriguez and Richard Longdon did not hold any shares in Ideagen plc 
and therefore did not receive any dividends in the year or the preceding year.
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29 | RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Key management are considered to be the directors of the Company. The remuneration of the directors of the company is 
disclosed in in the Remuneration Committee report. The total remuneration of key management is set out below:

2020 2019

£’000 £’000

Salaries, bonuses and fees and related employer national insurance 1,057 1,255

Share based payments 782 991

1,839 2,246

30 | EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS

On 7 August 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of Qualsys Limited, a company incorporated and domiciled in England. 
The initial net cash consideration paid at completion was £14.0 million with a further £1.6 million of deferred consideration payable 
12 months after completion.

The acquisition will strengthen the Group’s position in the Electronic Quality Management Software (“EQMS”) market providing 
both a SaaS-native cloud platform and a range of SME and Global Tier 1 customers.

Due to the recent timing of the acquisition and the availability of information, a full assessment of the fair values of assets and 
liabilities acquired has not yet been completed.

The acquisition was funded from the Group’s cash resources and its existing Revolving Credit Facility with National Westminster 
Bank plc.

BORROWING FACILITIES

As referred to in Notes 1 and 18, an extension to the Group’s Revolving Credit Facility was signed in September 2020 which 
provides an additional £10 million of headroom, taking the total facility to £50 million.
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